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P R O C E E D I N G S
MR. PRESIDENT:
Good morning.  The Court is in session.

Good morning, Superintendent Nyanjwa. 

THE WITNESS:
Good morning, Mr. President. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
You are an expert witness, and you have to tell the truth. 

Well, we -- well, first there is a dispute in relation to the expert status.  I note that there is -- there are two motions on this.  So, you will probably first present to the witness, Mr. White, his -- for instance, introduce his CV, et cetera, and then we will hear what are the objections, and once we've clarified his status, we will see what happens.

MR. WHITE:
As it please the Court, Mr. President.  I can advise that my direct examination will be relatively brief, and I was prepared to lead the Superintendent through a series of questions to establish his credentials, and then carry on from there.  If you'd wish me to break at that point after we've dealt with the credentials, then I'll do so. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
That's fine.  Please go ahead.

Do you have your CV in front of you there? 

THE WITNESS:
Yes, I do.

MR. WHITE:
Should we swear him in and use the personal information form, or shall we wait until after?

MR. PRESIDENT:
You have a personal information form for this person --

MR. WHITE:
Yes.

MR. PRESIDENT:
-- in addition to the CV?  Is that placed in front of us?  Yes, here it is.  Well, the formula is the same, anyhow.  So Mr. Matemanga --

You have to tell the truth, irrespective of your final status. 

So why don't -- Mr. Matemanga, you have to take his solemn declaration immediately, I think.
(Declaration made by Antipas Nyanjwa in English)
MR. PRESIDENT:
You have a personal information form in front of you there, Mr. Witness? 

THE WITNESS:
Yes, I do. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Is that your signature at the bottom of that page? 

THE WITNESS:
Yes, it's my signature. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Does that imply that the information is correct?

THE WITNESS:
Yes. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Mr. Matemanga? 

MR. MATEMANGA:
P. 276. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
276, thank you very much.


(Exhibit No. P. 276 admitted)
MR. PRESIDENT:
Mr. White? 
ANTIPAS NYANJWA

first having been duly sworn,

testified as follows:
VOIR DIRE

EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF 

BY MR. WHITE:

Q.
You are currently serving as a superintendent in the Kenyan police force?

A.
Yes.

Q.
How long have you been in the force? 

A.
For seven and a half years. 

Q.
Do you have a curriculum vitae which elaborates on your expertise and any training you may have undergone pertaining to your work?

A.
Yes, I do. 

Q.
And do you have a particular area of expertise? 

A.
Yes, I do. 

Q.
What is that area? 

A.
Forensic documents examination, in particular, writing analysis.

Q.
Does your curriculum -- or a copy of your curriculum vitae appear in the binder that's before you behind tab number one under the document code NYANJWA-1, and does it consist of four pages marked at the bottom one through four, and at the top with evidence reference numbers K0292452 through 55? 

A.
Yes. 

Q.
On the fourth page, the third entry from the bottom, does your CV make reference to work as a "consulting forensic document examiner for ICTR, Arusha, Tanzania"?

A.
Yes, it does.

Q.
Other than today, have you ever testified at ICTR before?

A.
Yes, I've done before.

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:
Mr. President, if there could be a pause between the questions and answers.  Since both of them speak English, the interpreters must be given time, please. 

BY MR. WHITE:

Q.
In which case did you testify? 

A.
In the media trial. 

Q.
Is this CV that you've produced the same CV that you produced in that case? 

A.
Yes. 

Q.
Were you permitted to give expert opinion testimony in that case? 

A.
Yes. 

Q.
What was the subject matter, in brief, of the testimony in that case?

A.
Handwriting analysis. 

Q.
Have you ever given expert opinion testimony in your area of expertise before any other judicial bodies? 

A.
Yes. 

Q.
Which judicial bodies and approximately how many cases? 

A.
Before several courtrooms in Kenya, commissions of inquiries.  And I didn't get the other part of the question.  Can you just repeat the question, Mr. Drew? 

Q.
Which judicial bodies and approximately how many cases? 

A.
I earlier said before, several courtrooms in Kenya, commissions of inquiries, and these are about 5,000 cases, so to say. 

Q.
How many years have you been giving such expert opinion testimony? 

A.
For about seven years now. 

Q.
Other than judicial bodies, have you ever provided your expertise to the field of education or training? 

A.
Yes. 

Q.
Under what circumstances? 

A.
I usually give lectures to the Kenya police training college.  I also give lectures to various diplomatic missions in Kenya.  It's mainly the officers who are dealing with the travelling documents in areas -- I usually show them how to identify forgeries.  And also I give lectures to various banking institutes in Kenya as well.

Q.
When you provide your lectures at the Kenyan police training college, who are you lecturing to? 

A.
I lecture police officers who are undergoing training to be deployed in the field to show them how to handle cases of forgeries when they pass out from college. 

Q.
Have you contributed to any publications or manuals? 

A.
Yes, I've done. 

Q.
And in brief, can you tell us what those publications or manuals are? 

A.
I've made about five publications, so to say.  First of all, I published a manual for fraud detection; I've also published a manual on handwriting analysis; I've also published a training manual for forensic document examiners, for candidates working towards qualifications for forensic document examiners in Kenyan, police laboratories; and several papers, so to say. 

Q.
Have you ever written reports of the findings of any expert opinion analysis? 

A.
Yes, I've done. 

Q.
Were you asked to write a report about your findings in this case? 

A.
Yes. 

Q.
And does a copy of that report appear in the binder before you behind tab number two under the document code of NYANJWA-2, consisting of four typewritten pages of text marked at the bottom one through four, and at the top with evidence reference numbers L0026940 through 45, plus a six-part series of attachments?

A.
Yes. 

Q.
Before writing that report, can you tell us, what was the nature of the request that was made to you? 

A.
I was requested to carry out some handwriting analysis on various sets of documents that were submitted to me from here. 

Q.
And after providing your written report, did you also receive a follow-up request? 

A.
Yes, I did. 

Q.
And did that follow-up request pertain to materials that were referred to as document 13 and marked with evidence reference numbers L0008679 --

MR. CONSTANT:
Objection.

MR. WHITE:
Just wait until I finish the question, please. 

BY MR. WHITE:

Q.
8679 through 94? 

A.
Yes.

MR. WHITE:
If it assists my learned friend, I'm not intending to go into any details here, just to establish what it was he's been asked to do before we qualify him or seek to qualify him as an expert.

MR. PRESIDENT:
I don't suppose this is a convenient moment to stop now? 

MR. WHITE:
I have two additional follow -- two additional questions just before doing that, if I may. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
What is your objection, Mr. Constant? 

MR. CONSTANT:
I think my learned colleague has asked a question about adducing the will-say which I mentioned on Thursday and Friday, and if I properly understood what the President told me on Friday, we are not supposed to discuss this aspect of Mr. Nyanjwa's report.  I thought that is what I understood. 

MR. WHITE:
Mr. President, my understanding is that it's the Chamber's preference for me to deal with the substance of those materials towards the end of the direct examination, and that's exactly what I intend to do.  In fact, I do not intend to tender any materials until the very end of the direct examination.  However, if we're to seek to establish this witness as an expert, we need to know what it was he was asked to do, irrespective of whether any of those materials might be admissible or not. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
All right.  So what are your last two questions?  Just go ahead. 

BY MR. WHITE:

Q.
Inspector, with respect to the follow-up materials, what was the nature of the request that was made to you?  What were you asked to do? 

A.
I was requested to carry out some handwriting analysis on some sets of documents that were submitted to me from here, the ICTR. 

Q.
All right.  Now, before arriving at your opinion regarding these requests, what methods did you use to analyse the handwriting? 

A.
The method I used is summarised on my report.  This is contained on page, page 4, which is marked Exhibit L0026944.  I've given a summary of the methodology used before I rendered my opinion, but in brief, I eliminated -- first of all eliminated all the natural variations that usually occur when somebody does writing by the -- natural variation can occur as a  result of intoxication by alcohol, sickness, old age, the writing material itself, the paper, the surface beneath the paper.  And I took into consideration the individual characteristics of the handwriting, like the character arrangements, character formations and their constructions, character slants and slopes, spacings, baseline alignment, character initialisations, and the terminal strokes, writing quality, line quality, pen fluency, character connections, general resemblance, pen speed, pen pressure and pen lifts, ink failures, and the like, before giving my opinion.

MR. SKOLNIK:
Excuse me, Mr. President, could we ask the witness to talk slower, because it's hard to write down what he's saying.

MR. PRESIDENT:
But what he said now was word for word what is on page 4 of his statement, so, so far so good.

MR. ERLINDER:
Mr. President, that's fine, but -- and could he raise his voice just a little?  We're having a heard time hearing.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Yes. 

THE WITNESS:
Thank you, I will.

MR. WHITE:
If it please the Chamber, Superintendent Nyanjwa is submitted as an expert in the field of forensic documents analysis; particularly, we submit that he's competent to give an opinion on the comparison of the handwriting samples that he was provided. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
And in support of that request, you want to refer partly to what he has said and partly to his CV? 

MR. WHITE:
Yes, Mr. President. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Yes.

I understand that there are two notices from the Defence.  Is there any objections as to this witness's expert status? 

MR. CONSTANT:
Yes, Mr. President. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Do you have questions for the witness?  If so, you are free to ask questions, or if you simply want to address the Chamber without asking questions, you are free to do that as well. 

MR. CONSTANT:
I have questions to put to the witness, Mr. President.  Thereafter, I will make some remarks to this Court, if you are in agreement, that is. 
VOIR DIRE

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Good morning, Mr. Witness. 

A.
(Microphones overlapping)
Q.
If I understand properly the CV presented to us, in 1994 you attended university in India; is that correct? 

A.
(Microphones overlapping)
Q.
And it was during that occasion that you were trained in forensics, document forensics? 

A.
I was trained as a forensic documents -- as of -- I was trained in, in criminology and forensic science, but I later specialised in forensic document examination.

Q.
That was in 1994?

A.
That's right. 

Q.
What was the duration of the training, sir?

A.
Two years. 

Q.
Two or three? 

A.
I'm saying two.  A master's degree lasts two years. 

Q.
And did you receive a certificate on documents forensics at the end of the training? 

A.
I received a master's degree in criminology and forensic science.

Q.
Did your certificate mention clearly that your training focussed on handwriting expertise, not only in criminology? 

A.
That is not mentioned in the degree, but the course content is mentioned in my CV. 

Q.
What I'm curious to find out is, from what I've understood, it is not clearly written in your certificate that you received training in handwriting forensics, because I don't have your certificate.  I requested for your certificate from the Prosecutor.  It was not given to me.  But if I understand what you are saying, we are both in agreement that it is not clearly spelled out in your certificate?

A.
Yes, I'll repeat again:  That is not indicated in my certificate.  My certificate shows master's degree in criminology and forensic science, and that's why I put the course content in my CV, what the course content was. 

Q.
Still concerning your CV, I realise that in 1998 you attended a symposium at Léone in France; is that correct?

A.
That's true. 

Q.
So, and can you tell me what was the duration of this symposium? 

A.
Two weeks. 

Q.
Was a certificate issued at the end of the symposium? 

A.
No, it was a non-certificate symposium. 

Q.
Did you present a paper during this symposium? 

A.
I did not. 

Q.
Were you invited to attend that symposium because you were a member of the Kenyan police? 

A.
Yes, I was invited. 

Q.
So you were sent there by the Kenyan police; is that correct? 

A.
That is true. 

Q.
You went to Israel in 1999; is that correct?

A.
That's correct. 

Q.
For how long were you in Israel?

A.
One month. 

Q.
Was it for a training? 

A.
Yes, it was for training. 

Q.
Did you focus on handwriting forensics?

A.
Yes. 

Q.
Was there a certificate issued at the end of the training?

A.
Yes. 

Q.
So do you have a certificate bearing the mention "handwriting forensics"?

A.
Yes.

Q.
During the training, did you give any lectures or were you as some sort of a trainee?

A.
I was a trainee.  I could not give lectures; I was a student. 

Q.
Was there an examination at the end of the training?

A.
Yes. 

Q.
Was it on forensics -- handwriting forensics? 

A.
Yes. 

Q.
Were you given a document to analyse, or what was the content of the examination? 

A.
Handwriting analysis. 

Q.
I have a problem here.  I don't know whether it is a problem of vocabulary.  I would like to find out from you, what do you mean by handwriting analysis? 

A.
You asked me what the course content was, so the course content was all about handwriting analysis, not any other subjects apart from that. 

Q.
Do you know the difference between the French graphology and handwriting analysis? 

A.
I don't know what you mean by French graphology, but graphology in general means the examination of handwriting.

Q.
There is a science known as graphology, and there is another science known as handwriting analysis.  Do you know the difference? 

A.
They're synonymously used.  They interchange, the meaning interchange. 

Q.
Sir, I put it to you that graphology is the study from a handwriting document which makes it possible to give information on the character and psychology of the person who wrote the document, whereas handwriting analysis is a field wherein we compare handwritings to ascertain that they were written by the same person.  I don't know whether you understand this difference.

A.
That would be a very limited definition of graphology. 

Q.
So do I understand that you consider graphology and handwriting analysis as one and the same thing? 

A.
I told you earlier that graphology is the science of handwriting, the study of handwriting, and the handwriting analysis is the process of analysing that handwriting.  So if you're talking about the study, you can say -- I mean, a graphologist is a handwriting analyst. 

Q.
What you are saying is really surprising, but in any case, I will move to another issue.  The Chamber will make a determination on this.

Coming back to your curriculum vitae, when you went to Israel, did you go to study handwriting analysis or handwriting comparison? 

A.
Both.

Q.
Okay.  Was it exactly the same thing when you went to Australia?  You went to Australia in 1999?

A.
Yes. 

Q.
What was the duration of your stay? 

A.
One month, also. 

Q.
Did you have a certificate at the end? 

A.
No, this was non-certificate course. 

Q.
In 2000 you went to Norway; is that correct?

A.
That is true. 

Q.
But if I understand properly, your trip did not focus on handwriting analysis, which you refer to as graphology, or handwriting forensics? 

A.
Yes. 

Q.
It was another field; is that correct?

A.
Basically, it dealt with computer-generated documents, not handwriting. 

Q.
And you went to Switzerland in 2001; is that correct?

A.
Yes. 

Q.
And this time around the focus was handwriting analysis; is that correct?

A.
The course consisted of handwriting and non-handwriting analyses. 

Q.
Okay.  And what was the duration? 

A.
One month. 

Q.
Did you have a certificate at the end?

A.
Yes. 

Q.
Which clearly indicates that the content of the course was handwriting and non-handwriting analysis?

A.
Yes. 

Q.
You have indicated that in -- within the seven years you carried out 7,000 -- or 5,000 analyses; is that correct?

A.
Yeah, I said approximately.  I'm not sure what -- the exact figure, as such. 

Q.
So that means that on a daily basis you carry out approximately two analyses; is that correct?

A.
That's right. 

Q.
Are you always comparing handwritings?

A.
Yes. 

Q.
So if I understand properly -- by the way, tell me, how much time do you spend in a handwriting comparison exercise in order to be able to conduct two such exercises per day, on average? 

A.
You'd imagine that this varies from some cases to another, because some cases are lengthy, some are very short.  So, I mean, if it's a short case, you can even carry out three handwriting analyses per day, or four, depending on the length of the case. 

Q.
If I understand you correctly, for a short document you would analyse -- you would analyse a short document for two hours, three hours, in order to be able to do three or four analyses per day? 

A.
As I said, there's no fixed time to say 12 hours or one hour, three hours, because I say each individual case varies. 

Q.
You said that you've already had the opportunity of giving evidence before this Tribunal; is that correct?

A.
That's correct. 

Q.
According to my research, you had the opportunity of submitting two reports, one in the media case and another in the Semanza case; is that correct?

A.
That is correct. 

Q.
But you are certain that you came to court to defend those two reports; is that right?

A.
That's right. 

Q.
Don't you remember that in the Semanza case, the Prosecutor finally did not call you and you did not appear before the Court; is that correct?

A.
That is not very correct.  The position was that the Defence changed their mind at the last minute and said they were not going to contest my report. 

Q.
I did not quite understand what you said. 

A.
I said that it is not the Prosecutor who did not call me.  It was the Defence who changed their mind at the last minute, and they said they were not going to contest my report.  They were going to accept my report, as it were.  That's the information I got from the Prosecution. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
And following that change of position by the Defence, did you then appear in the courtroom?

THE WITNESS:
I didn't appear in the courtroom, Mr. President. 

JUDGE REDDY:
Does that mean that in that case, the dispute -- the disputed writing was eventually accepted as being the writing of whoever was disputing it initially?

THE WITNESS:
That is true, Your Honour. 

JUDGE REDDY:
Thank you. 

MR. CONSTANT:
I would like to tell the Trial Chamber that I do not share the witness's point of view, and I'll produce documents, if necessary. 

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
In any case, in the media case, did you appear before the Trial Chamber or not?

A.
I appeared before the Trial Chamber in the media case. 

Q.
Now I would like to touch on the methodology, an issue that you approached with Mr. Drew White.

You said that you have several criteria which you use in making comparisons.  You mentioned writing, the construction of the alphabet, the way the words are lined up, and so on and so forth.  Is that correct? 

A.
That is correct, as contained in my report at page 4. 

Q.
The first thing I would like to know, do you usually make photocopies -- or, rather, do you usually rely on photocopies as the basis for the analysis of documents? 

A.
Each and every case presents itself differently.  There are those documents that come in photocopied form, there are those documents that come in carbon copies, there are those copies which come in the original handwriting. 

Q.
For, actually, those who deal -- who analyse handwritings, is the use of photocopies not recommended; disrecommended, rather?

A.
(Microphone not activated)...I would never come to such a closed sentiment that photocopied documents are not recommended. 

Q.
So to you, a photocopy and an original are one and the same thing; you can work on either.  Is that correct? 

A.
I can work on either and arrive at a conclusive opinion, except if the photocopied document has deteriorated and the quality is so poor that it could give me some difficulties. 

Q.
So your criterion for working on a photocopy is just to make sure that you can read the photocopy; is that correct?

A.
Yes. 

Q.
Therefore, if the document was stained as a result of the photocopying process, but if, nevertheless, it can be read, you would find it as a document to be used for a proper analysis; is that correct?

A.
I'm not getting your question clearly.  Can you please rephrase your question. 

Q.
When we talk of -- when we start from an original and you make a photocopy of the original, when you are photocopying from the original, in order to produce a photocopy, some letters may not be properly photocopied; there may be parts of the documents that are not properly photocopied.  Do you understand so far what I have said?

A.
Yes, this is what I talked of, the quality of the photocopied document.  I said if it is such a bad quality, it could be difficult to analyse.  But in any case, if it's a good quality photocopied document, I really have no problem with that. 

Q.
What I want to understand is the following:  For you to be able to verify the quality of the photocopy, it is necessary for you to be able to compare the photocopy to the original; is that correct? 

A.
Not necessarily. 

Q.
Therefore, how are you able to come to a conclusion that the photocopy is of good quality if you have no basis for a comparison? 

A.
By good quality I mean the legibility of the handwriting to be analysed. 

Q.
Therefore, the criterion is that you are able to read the document.  To you, that is what determines the quality of the photocopy.  Is that right? 

A.
That's right. 

Q.
But you cannot, in the final analysis, know if the photocopy you have is exactly a faithful reflection of the original?

A.
That is like asking me to do an analysis of a question that I was not asked to do, to compare, I mean, photocopy documents against the original, if it is a true copy.  I did not do that kind of analysis. 

Q.
That was not my question, sir.  My question is the following:  You said that for you to be able to determine the quality of a photocopy, it suffices to be able to read the document; but I am telling you that in that case, you will still be unable to know whether your photocopy is a faithful reflection of the original, whether the photocopy corresponds exactly to the original. 

A.
That's outside the scope of my work.  My work was to analyse the handwriting of the photocopies. 

Q.
Very well.  But you cannot know whether the characters you are analysing on the photocopy are the same as those on the original.  Do we agree on that? 

A.
Which original?  Because it's like introducing a document that I've already talked about in my report. 

Q.
For the time being, I'm not referring to your report.  I am talking about your methodology. 

In the report in question you used photocopies, and I'm trying to see the criterion you relied on to use your criteria -- to use your photocopy.  What I want to know is, if you have a photocopy and you do not have the original, how can you be sure that the characters on the photocopy correspond to those on the original?  My question is simple. 

A.
To be honest with you, I'm not getting your question, because you're talking about original and photocopies.  And what I talked about, I talked about the quality of photocopy, whether the handwriting on the photocopy document is properly legible or not.  So about the originality or -- I mean, the document being manipulated through photocopying, that is really out of -- was outside the scope of my work. 

Q.
I will ask you a last question and then I'll move on to something else, because I have a feeling that we are not able to understand one other. 

You said that to determine the quality of a photocopy you would -- what you would take into consideration is whether it is legible, whether you can read it well.  That is what I understood.  Am I correct?

A.
What I said -- and it is true, we are not talking on the same wavelength because you're not a document examiner expert, and you're presuming to be one now. 

Q.
What I'm asking you, sir, is how can you analyse the photocopy of a document simply because you can read it and without verifying beforehand that the said photocopy has all the criteria and characteristics of the original?  That is my question. 

A.
The characteristics never disappear during the photocopying process, as far as I'm concerned as an expert. 

Q.
Don't you think that they may be altered during the photocopying process? 

A.
Unless it is voluntary manipulation of the document through photocopying, and in any case, that would now amount to forgery. 

Q.
I am not talking of deliberate manipulation.  I'm saying that in the photocopying process, because of the quality of the photocopying machine and the number of photocopies that are being made from the original, there may be some alteration; in other words, the photocopy -- the photocopy may not comprise all the characteristics of the original.  Do you deny that?  Does this kind of alteration appear impossible to you?

A.
That is a near impossibility, and that's why I talked of the quality of the photocopied document. 

Q.
But how can you determine the quality if you do not have the original to make a comparison?  And I would have finished on this line of questioning. 

A.
I told you I determine the quality on the basis of legibility of the document. 

Q.
Very well.  Still regarding your methodology, you talked about the alphabet.  I believe we will agree on the fact that there are 26 letters in the alphabet.  I would like to know the following:  When you have two documents to compare, how many letters do you verify from one document to another out of the 26 letters? 

A.
Can you rephrase your question and make it less short so that I can understand it better? 

Q.
Suppose you have a document and you know the person who wrote the document, and, on the other hand, suppose you have a document whose author you do not know, and the objective, therefore, to know between the known document and -- the document whose author is known and the document whose author is unknown, whether the two – whether the two writings are the same.  
Now, my question is, how many letters do you take from the known document to verify whether they are the same on the unknown document?  Out of the 26 letters of the alphabet, how many letters do you use for your analysis?

A.
Just to educate you a little bit on handwriting analysis, during examination, let us assume characters now.  They no longer assume their alphabetical identity.  So in this case, we go for characteristics. 

Q.
Witness, on the basis of what I know on handwriting analyses is that you compared letters.  For example, you take A and compare to A.  Do we agree that you compare letters?

A.
Okay.  In a layman's language, you would call them letters the way you do, but I say now we call them as characters.  Now they assume a different identity. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
But if you use our everyday language, Mr. Witness, normal language, when you analyse characteristics, do you then select what we call specific letters in order to analyse characteristics, or do you look at many or all letters?  What is your methodology? 

THE WITNESS:
Mr. President, it could be a combination of characteristics that would form the basis of opinion.  Okay, for example, if we took the letter A, it is -- we may start from the general resemblance to the pen movement, the ink distributions, the natural pen lifts, the curves, the terminal strokes, you know, the pen pressure, and the like.  So that's why we don't just look at letters in this.  So that's why I say they assume different identity altogether because just -- a whole range of characteristics. 

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Okay.  I have difficulty getting a clear answer from you.  In the final analysis, I understand that there are several criteria, the curves, pen pressure, and so on and so forth.  I agree.  Now we are going to consider those criteria one by one.  
For the time being, I am dealing with the characters of what we call letters.  I will give you an example.  Do you compare only one letter?  Do you compare two letters?  Do you compare three letters?  In short, how many letters do you compare?  I'm referring to letters, the characters of letters.  How many letters do you compare in your analysis or methodology? 

A.
We have no limit. 

Q.
So you compare several letters since you have no limit; is that correct?

A.
That's not, that's not the correct position.  The position is, we could be dealing with limited characters, that is, limited letters as you call them, where maybe a single word has been spelled maybe using three, four letters, or it could be using -- we could be comparing a whole document comprising a whole range of handwriting.  So that's why I'm telling you that it varies from one to another.  We will, we will -- we have no limit.  I wouldn't say precisely we need ten, we need six, we need four, we need 20. 

Q.
I will try to rephrase my question.  I'll try to ask it differently. 
There are 26 letters in the alphabet.  On the basis of -- how many letters can you say that it is the same writing or from how many letters can you say that it is the same writing? 

A.
There is no limit.  It can even be one.  Sometimes it can be difficult to say, I mean, to conclude precisely from, say, one letter or even from a whole page, depending on the quality of the document, whether the handwriting has been disguised or not, something like that. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Isn't it becoming slightly repetitive now?  Hasn't the witness said that it varies from document to document, and sometimes you use four and other times you use 20?  So I think he's unwilling to provide a specific number of letters. 

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
On this point I will ask a last question.  Assume that you have three letters that are identical and ten that is different.  Would you arrive at the conclusion that it is the same author? 

A.
I may or may not, depending on the quality of that handwriting, how it appears.  It could be disguised.  It could be, you know, a straight handwriting that has not been disguised. 

Q.
Okay.  When you say it may be disguised handwriting, I am thinking of a situation where you have two writings which are not disguised.  You said that the writing may be disguised, but at some point in time the person may write as he naturally writes.  But if you think that the handwriting is disguised in the document in question, in such a case my question is, if you have ten letters which do not -- which are not similar, would you say that it is the same author, the same person who is the author of the two handwritings?

A.
Even yourself, you are saying they are not similar.  How can I say, "And they're not similar"?

Q.
I move on to something else.  Apparently, we are not understanding one another.

Do you understand French, sir? 

A.
I don't. 

Q.
Don't you have a problem of ethics, having to analyse documents in French even though you don't understand French? 

A.
Please repeat the question.  I have not understood what you're talking about ethics. 

Q.
I'll rephrase my question.  Don't you have a problem, given that you do not understand French, having to analyse documents in French for the purposes of comparing writings or handwritings? 

A.
I don't have a problem because I'm not doing language analysis, I'm doing handwriting analysis, and that consists of alphabets.  Whether in French or in a, you know, a tribal language, that doesn't really matter, provided they're alphabets. 

Q.
A short while ago, that when dealing with a photocopy, your concern is to be able to read.  So if I understand, what you're interested in is not your ability to read it, but, rather, the form of the characters, because you are saying that the language in which the handwriting -- the language of the handwriting doesn't matter? 

A.
That is true, the language doesn't matter. 

Q.
Do you agree that in a given language, the use of letters is not -- doesn't have -- letters are not used to the same degree, to the same extent?

A.
I am not getting the question. 

Q.
It happens that in one language or another, some letters are more used than in another language.  Do you agree with that idea?

A.
I don't agree because I don't understand what you mean by that. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Mr. Witness, in the east European countries there are a lot of consonants, and more consonants, maybe, than in some of the west European languages.  That's something we all know.  Now, would that create a method of methodology to your profession, in other words, that in some languages you use, say, vowels more than consonants or that you use some vowels more than others?  That's the question. 

THE WITNESS:
Okay, rephrase the question. 

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:
Microphone, please. 

MR. CONSTANT:
Merci.  Pardon. 

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
I will endeavour to explain my question further.  According to experts, in any case, experts in French -- in France or in Canada, when two documents are compared, an attempt is made to use, for the purposes of comparison, letters that are most often used in the language in question.  For example, in French, vowels are much used and proportionately, consonants are less used.  Therefore, the expert takes into account this situation.  Very often A’s and E’s are used, and these letters will be taken, because it is very difficult to change one's way of writing regarding these letters that are often used.  I'm asking you whether you accept this principle. 

A.
Yes. 

Q.
Now, I am going to ask my question differently.  So now, can you tell us the percentage or frequency of letters used in the French language? 

A.
About the frequency, I don't know. 

Q.
So taking into account your last two answers, don't you think, therefore, that your criteria for analysing documents in French is really a problem, because you are not aware of the criteria used in analysing documents in French? 

A.
No. 

Q.
There is a contradiction here.  You've told me that one of the criteria is to appraise the frequency of use of the letters -- you just acknowledged that a while ago -- and at the same time, you acknowledge that you are not aware of the frequency of use in French, and you still tell me that, “It does not pose any problem to me”?

A.
There is no contradiction here, because I told you I don't speak French, so the frequency of vowels or consonants in the French language, that I would not tell.  But in any case, that would not limit my examination.  This is what I am telling you. 

Q.
Sir, do you agree that handwriting comparison analysis has a probability factor.  This means that taking a look at the various criteria existing, there is always the risk that one may be mistaken? 

A.
Yes, I know handwriting analysis is not an exact science. 

Q.
Do you agree that the error of risk takes into account the methodology, the comparisons made, and the criteria used?

A.
If there is an error in the methodology used, there's a probability of somebody arriving at a wrong conclusion, but this would really depend on the expertise of the examiner. 

Q.
Sir, I am not talking about expertise here.  What I want to ask you is that once there is a risk of error, do we agree that the more random the criteria, the greater the risk for error? 

A.
I don't quite agree with you. 

Q.
So I am going to rephrase my question.  Since you admit that there is a risk that an error may be committed, don't you acknowledge that the risk for error will be greater when you have a photocopy than when you have an original? 

A.
That would still depend on the quality of the photocopy.  I think you're just going back.  It's becoming a vicious circle. 

Q.
My last question.  I'm not expecting an answer, this is just for the record.  Don't you think that there is a greater proportion for you making errors when you do not understand the language which you are using for your analysis? 

A.
No. 

Q.
One last thing:  What do you mean by "conclusive opinion"? 

A.
That's an opinion that can be expressed with all the certainties. 

Q.
So when you say there is a conclusive opinion, does it mean that there is no margin of error or there is a very limited margin of error? 

A.
There is no margin of error. 

Q.
So it means that you are 100 per cent certain; is that correct? 

A.
That is correct. 

Q.
Sir, were you taught in your training that in handwriting analysis, there can never be a 100 per cent certainty? 

A.
No such a thing exists. 

MR. CONSTANT:
I have come to the end of my cross, Mr. President.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Thank you. 

Any other questions?  Mr. Tremblay. 

MR. TREMBLAY:
Good morning, Mr. President.  Good morning, Your Honours.  Good morning, Witness. 

We, on the 3rd of June, submitted to this Court our opinion on the basis of Rule 94 bis, and the court files has this opinion.  I won't come back on the content of it.

Let me immediately inform this Court that we are going to request a second expert opinion.  We've already initiated a procedure in this connection, and of course, we hope that all administrative arrangements will be made.

I have one specific question to ask this witness, and the question concerns his expertise.  And in addition, I will have a few small questions regarding his methodology, taking into account the fact that my learned colleague Constant has largely covered that area.

Mr. President, I would like to draw your attention to a page of this document, page K0091633, and this is the document pertaining to the organisation of the civil defence.  I am stating that it is K0091633.  It would be very important for us to look at this document together because concerning this page, 
Mr. President, there is an error.  There is a mistake which irremediably waters down the quality of the expert who is testifying here right now.  We want this Court to note that there are two parts, two segments on that page.  There are items 28 to 50, and the other items from one to five.

And the question that I want to put to this person, who calls himself a witness (sic), is thus. 
VOIR DIRE

CROSS-EXAMINATION

BY MR. TREMBLAY:

Q.
Mr. Witness, how can you claim that Aloys Ntabakuze is the person who wrote such different blocks of handwriting? 

A.
Mr. President, I looked at the handwriting on this document marked K0091633, and if I would remember, there were a couple of pages, not only this one, which had different entries, and the ones that were not written by Aloys Ntabakuze, I circled them in a different colour of ink.  And I must say that if there is anything, then it's just a mix-up.  I can really recognise that there were a couple of pages, not only this one. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Did you use --

MR. TREMBLAY:
(No translation)
MR. PRESIDENT:
Did you use this page? 

THE WITNESS:
No, I didn't use this page.  The page that I used -- I think there was a mix-up, because these were photocopies. 

MR. TREMBLAY:
Mr. President, I want to draw the Court's attention to page 3 of the report, and actually the last paragraph, and let me quote in English:  "I also examined and compared the questioned handwritings on the test documents marked K0091626 to K0091627, and K0091632 and K00916" -- there is one "1" that is extra, it should not be there.  It should be written “K0091633”. 

And the gentleman -- and this is a conclusion of the gentleman.  "The diary entries from the 4th February - 10th March, marked K0042646,” it is the agenda of Aloys Ntabakuze, “with the known or previous handwritings are not in dispute on the documents marked K0042552 and K0042486.”   And, “I arrived at the opinion that the handwritings are made by the same hand." 

The handwritings in question, Mr. President, include the page I referred to a while ago, that is, page K0091633, and you can see for yourself that he is claiming that Aloys Ntabakuze has those two handwritings, which are radically different.  One does not need to be an expert to check this.  He claims that Aloys Ntabakuze wrote such two very different handwritings, so I want to put it to him. 

BY MR. TREMBLAY:

Q.
Sir, how did you come about such a conclusion?

MS. MULVANEY:
Mr. President, Your Honours, I just -- it seems we've gone way beyond the qualification of the expert and we're now in cross-examination, and we haven't had direct yet.  I would request that Mr. White be allowed to conduct the direct examination of the witness. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
But you see, he's using this page 633 to show that the expert is not an expert.  That's what he's doing, and that's why he's drawing our attention.

Now, what is your answer to this 633 problem raised by Mr. Tremblay? 

THE WITNESS:
Mr. President, I've already explained that to the Court.  And still, if you go to page 4 of my report you'd find that -- that's on the second paragraph, that's L0026944, you can see I'm talking about some handwriting that are outside the red circle.  So I would still wish to repeat that this was a pure mix-up.  It was a pure mix-up. 

BY MR. TREMBLAY:

Q.
Witness, do you acknowledge that at page K0091633 there are two different handwritings? 

A.
Yes.  That's agreed, Mr. President. 

Q.
Why, and I'm repeating my question, why do you state that Aloys Ntabakuze has two different handwritings? 

A.
I'm not saying that Aloys Ntabakuze has two different handwritings, but I'm stating to the Court that this was a result of pure mix-up, Mr. President, and it should be taken in good faith that was a pure mix-up.  It was not --

MR. PRESIDENT:
And you mean a mistake?

THE WITNESS:
Yes, it was a mistake.

MR. PRESIDENT:
On your part?

THE WITNESS:
On my part, Mr. President. 

JUDGE REDDY:
And so let's be clear on this.  You admit that document K0091633 is in two different handwritings? 

THE WITNESS:
Yes. 

JUDGE REDDY:
And the bottom part, one to five, is not the handwriting of --

THE WITNESS:
Aloys Ntabakuze, yes.  And it should be taken in good faith, this is what I'm saying to the Court.

JUDGE REDDY:
So when you wrote your report, you didn't make a distinction between numbers 32 to 50 and one to five; is that what happened?  You didn't differentiate these two separate --

THE WITNESS:
Yes, yes.  This is what I made a mistake about when I was typing the report.  And you also understand that I was dealing with a huge number of documents, and that is why the mix-up occurred.  I apologise to the Court. 

BY MR. TREMBLAY:

Q.
Witness, you conducted the handwriting analysis on the handwriting of Aloys Ntabakuze, and it covers four pages, four pages which were being questioned, and of the four pages, you actually erred on one page.  Now, do you think that we can trust you concerning the three other pages in question? 

A.
Yes, you should trust me, because I've already explained to the Court. 

Q.
When you met those people, they gave you copies.  I don't want to come back to what Mr. Constant said.  My question is this:  Why did you not insist on having the originals in order to carry out your expert analysis properly? 

A.
I could not anticipate because I actually deal with what has been brought to me. 

Q.
Mr. Witness, who passes for an expert witness, my question is, why did you not request for the originals? 

A.
I had no reason for requesting for the originals because I have already explained to the Court that I actually examined what has been brought to me.  It is not really my duty to ask for the originals or the photocopies or this and that, because the person submitting should be knowing why the originals cannot be found. 

MS. MULVANEY:
Mr. President, Your Honours, counsel just made a rather derogatory remark to the witness, and he said that he was passing himself off as an expert.  I wish that the Court would instruct counsel not to make that kind of commentary. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
We all want to address our witnesses, and expert witnesses, with respect, whatever opinion one may have on the substance.

Next question, Mr. Tremblay. 

MR. TREMBLAY:
Yes, Mr. President.  I am almost done. 

BY MR. TREMBLAY:

Q.
Witness, you stated that you have worked on 5,000 files, according to what I heard.  My question is this:  On the 5,000 files, did you conduct the analyses and also appear to testify in courts?  I don't know whether you understand my question.  What I'm saying is, did you, on the 5,000 files which you have worked on, did you appear in court to testify? 

A.
Not in all of them, Mr. President. 

Q.
What do you mean by this, "not in all of them"?  Is it possible for you to tell us approximately how many of these files led to your appearing as an expert witness in judicial proceedings?

A.
Mr. President, it would be difficult to guess, because seven years is a long time  to approximate the number of times I've appeared in court, but they are pretty many, to be honest. 

Q.
Many times.  In any case, the Court will make a determination on this.

MR. TREMBLAY:
My last question, Mr. President, and I'm going to end with this. 

BY MR. TREMBLAY:

Q.
Witness, when you met the representatives of the OTP, they gave you two letters or, if you prefer, two writing samples of Aloys Ntabakuze which were not questioned, in other words, which were authentic.  Why did you not request other samples?

A.
The ones I received was sufficient enough to deal with. 
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BY MR. TREMBLAY:

Q.
So you purport that with only two pages you were able to carry out a professional work without any blemish?

A.
I will repeat that there was sufficient enough for my work.

MR. TREMBLAY:
Mr. President, taking in account what we heard this morning, Major Ntabakuze's Defence prays that this honourable Chamber does not acknowledge that this witness is an expert witness. 

MR. BW'OMANWA:
Mr. President, I was just wondering, we have not put in a notice of objection, but may I have leave to ask one or two questions?

MR. PRESIDENT:
Even if your client is not directly --

MR. BW'OMANWA:
That is why I'm asking.  May I have leave, with permission of the Court, to clarify one or two issues about his expertise?

MR. PRESIDENT:
All right, briefly.

MR. BW'OMANWA: 
Yes, just about questions. 
VOIR DIRE

CROSS-EXAMINATION

BY MR. BW'OMANWA:

Q.
Witness, in answer to a question by Mr. Constant, I heard you say that at some point you were able to say that your opinion was 100 per cent conclusive; is that right?

A.
That's right.

Q.
A little earlier, in answer to questions by the same counsel, you said that handwriting expertise is not an exact science.

A.
That's right.

Q.
I'm at a loss to understand how you can say that handwriting expertise is not an exact science, yet you say that you can be a hundred per cent sure about a comparison of handwriting.  Can you please explain that?

A.
Just to explain to you, I talked about a conclusive opinion and a non-conclusive opinion.  By a conclusive opinion is where the 100 per cent comes in, because I was able to arrive at that decision with all the certainties.

Q.
Second question: you said you have testified in a good number of cases before various courts, especially in Kenya.

A.
Yes.

Q.
Have you ever found yourself in a situation where your expert opinion was rejected by any court?

A.
Mr. President, it's never been rejected.

Q.
So all your opinions before the courts have been accepted all the time?

A.
Not my opinions; my expertise.  Don't mix the two issues. 

Q.
I'm not talking about --

A.
You were asking if I've ever been rejected as an expert in any courtroom.

Q.
No, no, not talking about your being rejected as an expert.  I'm talking about your opinion.

A.
Whether my opinion is accepted by a court or not, that I would not know because I don't follow up judgements, because that would really be reflected in the judgements.

Q.
So you never get to know at the end of the case whether your opinion has been accepted or not; is that your position?

A.
That's my position.  I don't follow up judgements.

Q.
And then is it common for handwriting experts to disagree, to have different opinions?

A.
It's not so common.  It can only be possible if you get a machinery expert.

Q.
Okay, let's be more practical.  Have you found yourself in a situation where your opinion and that of another handwriting expert have disagreed?

A.
No.

Q.
You have not?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Another question, Witness: is it possible for two people to have similar handwriting, so similar as to be almost indistinguishable?

A.
I've never come across.

Q.
But is it possible?

A.
I've never come across, so I don't know, but it's not possible.  Scientifically, it's not possible.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Thank you.  Any redirect on this issue? 

MR. WHITE: 
No redirect on the issue of expert qualifications.

MR. ERLINDER:
Mr. President --

MR. PRESIDENT:
The Chamber has received two notices under Rule 94 bis of the Rules of Procedure and Evidence.  According to (B) there, the opposing party shall file a notice to the Trial Chamber indicating whether it accepts or does not accept the witness's qualification as an expert.  

We have heard the questions by the two Defence counsel and the supplementary questions by the third Defence counsel; we have heard the answers, and we have decided unanimously that, based on the CV containing the education, based on the training, in view of the fact that this witness has previously been admitted as an expect in two trials before this Tribunal, we will accept his qualification as an expert also in this trial.  When it comes to the weight of the evidence, that is a different matter.  

Mr. White. 

MR. WHITE: 
Yes, Mr. President.  If it please the Court, the Chamber just made reference in its decision to this witness appearing as an expert in two previous trials, and there was some cross-examination by 
Mr. Constant with respect to the Media trial and the Semanza trial.  The Prosecution is possessed of knowledge that is contained in the minutes of proceedings from the Semanza trial which tends to support Mr. Constant's suggestion that the witness did not appear in the Semanza trial and have his testimony accepted.  

I didn't pursue it in the redirect because I didn't think it went to the substance of the witness's qualifications, but having made reference to two previous appearances, the Prosecution believes that this witness has only testified and been accepted in the Media trial.  It was a slightly different situation in the Semanza trial, and the minutes of proceedings in that trial reveal what actually happened.

MR. PRESIDENT:
But he was called as an expert?

MR. WHITE: 
He was listed as an expert; he produced an expert report.

MR. PRESIDENT:
And the Defence accepted it. 

MR. WHITE: 
No, he came to Arusha to testify.  He was present and available, but at the very last moment, my understanding is, the Prosecution counsel withdrew the tendering of the report and withdrew this witness as an expert, so it was never presented to the court as testimony or the report, and the report was not tendered.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Okay, that is a new element.  Then we have to revise it to one previous case.  Thank you for that clarification. 

Please proceed.

MR. CONSTANT:
Mr. President, I do not want to question the decision of the Chamber, but concerning Semanza, I confirm what my learned friend, Drew White, has said Eboe-Osuji had deposited or tendered the report –

MR. PRESIDENT:
Mr. Constant, I just made a slight correction and said that we will only refer to one previous case, so it's settled.  So thank you for your confirmation, but we have to move on and we can't spend more time to this. 

MR. CONSTANT:
I would like to conclude, Mr. President, in the Media judgement, I do not see that this man was accepted as an expert.  On page 16 of the French version, there is mention of four experts.  That is what I simply wanted to say.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Thank you, that is noted.  

What is your question, Mr. White, to this witness on the substance, now? 
EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF

BY MR. WHITE: 

Q.
Superintendent, I want to deal with some of the substance of the analysis that you conducted.  Can you tell us, as you were analysing the handwriting that was produced to you, did you generate any enlargements or excerpts of the handwriting as samples?

A.
Yes, I did.

Q.
Does part 6 of your report contain any samples of the handwriting enlargements that you analysed?

A.
Yes.

Q.
For the record, are those the five pages which appear at the very end of the annexes that appears at tab 2 marked at the top L0026946 through 50?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Do those photo excerpts contain a series of two photo images per page with each photo image containing two side-by-side images?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Does each of those images appear next to a K number reference for the page from where it is drawn in the various collections of documents that you analysed?

A.
Yes.

Q.
If it please the Court, could the witness please proceed to the overhead monitor?  We want to examine several of these photo images.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Please keep your headset on, Mr. Witness, will you?  Keep it on.  You will need the headset.

MR. WHITE: 
If we could advise the video booth that we are going to be going to the overhead monitor. 

BY MR. WHITE: 

Q.
Witness, could you take the very first photo image, the one that has the number 1 marked next to it, and put it on the monitor, what I would like you to do, if you could -- just waiting for that to come up on the overall screen.  What I'd like to you do, if you could, is to tell us, first of all, whether the image on the left comes from test collection B?

A.
Yes.

Q.
And does the image on the right come from what your report refers to as you authenticated document collection number 1?

A.
Yes.

Q.
There are some characters on these images that has a circle around them.  Are you the person who placed the circle around the characters?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Have you followed that method with each of the other images we are going to look at where you circled certain characters?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Can you explain to us, please, what this image is and describe the significance of the character we are looking at?

A.
Mr. President, during my analysis, I took the test collection documents and the authentic document, and I took random photographs of various, different characters that show high degree of similarities, and I merged them together and took this photograph that you can now see before you on the screen.  I'm the one who made the circles, and these are letter Gs taken from test collection document and from authentic document.  I just wanted to show the similarity in the handwritings.  So I want to show you the similarities in these Gs.  The sizes are also proportional to one another.  If you look at the inclination of letter G, where I'm pointing with the pen now, you will find a concentration of ink, and a sharp drop.  Then the curve, the downward curve shapes so smoothly, taking an upward curve, which is so similar from the authentic document, and also the crossbar of the letter G, as you can see, imitates the authentic document, and this shows a high degree of similarity.

Q.
Can you turn, please, then, to photo image number 2 and place that on the overhead monitor?  And for the record, the image that we are looking at on the left-hand side, is that the same image of the character G that we just looked at from test collection B with respect to photo image 1?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Is the character on the right also taken from authenticated document collection number 1?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Can you tell us what is the comparison between these two characters?

A.
Mr. President, the same scenario repeats itself here also.  These are Gs taken from different documents, and you see the similarity.  Inasmuch as they were obtained from different documents, they show a high degree of similarities, just as I explained earlier.

Q.
Could you turn please to photo image number 3?
MR. PRESIDENT:
Now, these two pictures, they are similar, but not identical.

THE WITNESS:
They are identical.

MR. PRESIDENT:
In your view, they are identical.

THE WITNESS:
They are identical, Mr. President.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Even if there are certain differences? 

THE WITNESS:
Yes.  The differences, Mr. President, would occur because your handwriting is not a typewriter.  That can only bring not what we call differences, but we call it variations.  So variation itself does not mean a different handwriting.

MR. PRESIDENT:
So the variation is within the scope which allows you to find that it is the same handwriting.

THE WITNESS:
Yes.

BY MR. WHITE: 

Q.
Let us please look at photo image 3, and is the image on the left taken from test collection B?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Is the image on the right taken from test authenticated document collection 1?

A.
Yes.

Q.
How do these characters compare?

A.
Mr. President, as I explained earlier, these are images which are taken from two different documents merged together to show areas of similarities.  This is letter Q.  This is letter Q.  If you look at the fluency of the writer in the formation of the letter Q making the curve down and up, you find the same things repeating itself in the authentic document, so I found this to be really matching and I found it quite in order to take the two images together just for demonstration.

Q.
Could you please turn to photo image number 4, and, again, is the image on the left taken from test selection B?

A.
Yes.

Q.
And the image on the right is taken from authenticated document collection 1?

A.
Yes.

Q.
How do these characters compare?

A.
I found striking similarity in both the formation of the double letters as circled.  I found the pen fluency, the pen movement and the slant strikingly similar, and that is why I found it interesting to take these images just for courtroom demonstration.

Q.
Are these, as far as you understand, are these the same letters of the alphabet or are these characters of different letters of the alphabet?

A.
They are different letters of the alphabet, but I found the writer having this habit of, you know, making quick upward and downward stroke when he's writing letters like double F, double Ts, and that is why I found it interesting to take these images, Mr. President.  And also the stroke forming letter E after the double letters, as you can see in there where I'm pointing with the pen.

Q.
Could you turn, please, to photo image 5?

MR. PRESIDENT:
Did you say that the one on the left-hand side was a double --

THE WITNESS:
Pardon.

MR. PRESIDENT:
The one on the left-hand side under 4 is a double S; is that what you said?

THE WITNESS:
No, this is double T.

MR. PRESIDENT:
And the one on the right-hand side.

THE WITNESS:
Double F.

BY MR. WHITE:

Q.
If you look at the photo image number 4, Superintendent, can you tell us whether or not the image in the top portion of that is from test collection A?

A.
Number 4, number 5.

Q.
Image 5?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Is that from the top image of test collection A?

A.
Yes.

Q.
And is the bottom image from authenticated document collection 1?

A.
Yes.

Q.
How do these characters compare?

A.
Mr. President, these also are a depiction of the pervious image where the writer makes double letters, and if you look at the top document, which I'm pointing with the pen now, it is more pronounced.  When you come down, you find this curve I'm showing with the pen going to form the double letter almost repeating itself up here.  And where we find the bar, the crossbar, it's more or less aligning itself to the lower double letter.

Q.
Can you please turn to photo image number 6, and can you tell us whether or not the image that appears on the left is from test collection B?

A.
Yes.

Q.
And is the image on the right from authenticated document collection number 1?

A.
Yes.

Q.
How do these characters compare?

A.
Mr. President, these are letter Ds obtained from different documents, and I put them side by side and captured them together just for courtroom demonstration.  If you look at the size of the Ds, you find that the habit of the writer in the sizing of letters never changes.  If you look at the curve crossing in the middle of the D going to form letter I, it's repeated more or less like a typewriter like the one that has been circled in red here, and this shows particularly how similarity in handwriting can be displayed.

Q.
Will you please look at photo image number 7.  Can you tell us whether or not the image on the top is from authenticated document collection number 1?

A.
Yes.

Q.
And is the image on the from test collection A?

A.
Yes.

Q.
How do these photo images compare?

A.
Mr. President, here we are going to look at the whole entire word in totality.  It's the word "defense", which has been obtained from different documents and imaged together.  There is not too much to explain, but I think even, as you say, a layman can tell.  Look at the similarity in the letter S in the word "defense", and the cross-forming letter E as it terminates.  Similarly, we look at the formation of letter F and letter D.  I found this particularly similar.

Q.
Thank you.  Can you turn to photo image number 8?  Can you tell us whether the characters that appear in the top image are from test collection C?

A.
Yes.

Q.
And are the images that appear in the bottom collection from authenticated document collection number 2?

A.
Yes.

Q.
How do these characters compare?

A.
Mr. President, here I was looking at the words that would contain more or less similar -- similar wordings or similar letters, for that matter.  If you look at the word written up -- it's French.  I can't be able to read it, but the other one, I think, is "message".  If you look at the formation of letter Ms, the Ms are initialised.  You go through to double S, and then immediately after letter S, you find letter A.  The A couples itself, has a coupling before the writer proceeds to the next alphabet, for that matter, and I found this strikingly similar.

Q.
Could you turn, please, to photo image number 9, and can you tell us whether or not the image that appears on the top is from test collection C?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Is the image on the bottom from authenticated document collection number 2?

A.
Yes.

Q.
How do these characters compare?

A.
Mr. President, here I was looking at the character A.  In these words, you will find that the writer has a habit of writing something like a U before making letter A, and this repeats itself also in the lower word.  I found this to be spectacularly similar and easy for courtroom demonstration.  I took this photograph just for demonstration.

Q.
Let's turn, then, to photo image number 10.  Can you tell us whether the image at the top is from test collection C?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Is the image at the bottom from authenticated document collection number 2?

A.
Yes.

Q.
How do these characters compare?

A.
Mr. President, here I was looking at the letter P in both the documents.  These were handwritings obtained from different documents, and I found letter P to be of much interest, since it shows a spectacular similarity both the documents.  You find that the O forming the P lies on the base line of -- I mean, on the base line of the characters, and the same is repeated down here.  If you look also at the formation, the quick upward stroke, the down and the quick up, the pen is very fluent, the ink distribution is very similar, and I found it interesting to show it to the Court.

MR. WHITE:
Just before we move on to some additional questions, I want to clear something for the record.  

The last three images we have looked at have included comparisons from test collection C, and for the record, Mr. President, test collection C is the collection of documents that begins with only one evidence reference number.  That is, the very first page of test collection C has a single evidence reference number.  That is indicated in the images we have just looked at.  It's K0042646.

Now, the following pages do not have individualised K or evidence reference numbers, but they do have individual dates for diary entries or page numbers.  

BY MR. WHITE:

Q.
And just for the record, and to assist my learned friends more than anything, Mr. Witness, I want to ask you these questions.  When we looked at photo image number 8, and we compared the image from test collection C, did that image appear on the diary entry dated February, the 4th, or the page numbered February, the 4th?

A.
Yes.

Q.
When we looked at photo image number 9 from test collection C, did that extract appear from the page marked February, the 15th?

A.
Yes.

Q.
And when we looked at photo image number 10 and test collection C extract, did that appear from the pages marked February 26 and 27?

A.
Yes.

Q.
You can put those photo images aside, Superintendent.  I have some additional questions for you about other parts of the documents that you analysed.  You can stay at that overhead monitor for a moment.  We will be back to it in just a second.

In the authenticated document collection number 1, there were two pages referred to as K0239547 and K0166330. 

A.
Yes.

Q.
Did you make a comparison between the handwriting on those two pages, and if you did, how did it compare?

A.
I did make a comparison, and they compared so well that I wish to demonstrate, Mr. President, to the Court the similarity in these handwritings.  I'm going to concentrate on the word "General Dallaire" from document number K0239547, and the same entry of the word "General Dallaire" from the diary marked K0239545, and I'm just going to show to the Court the striking similarity in the handwriting between the two, so as you can see, I can play with the documents.  At a large zoom, if you look at the letter G for the “General”, there is a striking similarity in the formation of letter G connecting to E, and also the space between E and N in both the writings is spectacularly similar, as you can see for yourself.  So, Mr. President, I found it very much interesting to show this to the Court, the striking similarities in these entries.

Q.
Have you highlighted those portions, yourself?

A.
Yes, I highlighted them, myself.

Q.
Just for the record, I think you and I have misunderstood each other slightly, but what you have just shown us are two excerpts from pages that you indicated were marked K0239547; is that correct?

A.
Yes.

Q.
And that is an excerpt from authenticated document collection number 1; is that correct?

A.
Yes, that's correct.

Q.
And the second highlighted portion that you have shown us, that was from the page marked K0239545; is that correct?

A.
That's correct.

Q.
And is that from test collection A?

A.
Yes.

Q.
I think the record is clear on that point now.
Let me just go back one step, because I had actually asked you a question about a comparison between the two pages that appear in authenticated document collection number 1?

A.
Yes.

Q.
That is the pages K0239547?

A.
Yes.

Q.
One of which you have just shown us?

A.
Yes.

Q.
And K0166330.  Those are the two pages forming the documents that you have referred to in your report as authenticated document collection number 1.  My question is whether or not, or how those documents compare as between themselves.

A.
K0 --

Q.
Superintendent, I don't think you've got the copy of your report with you.  I don't think you're got all of the materials.  Maybe it's best if you retrieve the binder from the other desk and then come back to the monitor.  

If you look to your report and turn to the materials under the heading of authenticated document collection number 1.
A.
Yes.

Q.
And there you will find the two pages I just referred to.
A.
Yes, yes.

Q.
How does the handwriting compare as between those two pages in that collection number 1?

A.
They are similar.  They are made by one hand.

Q.
I'm going to ask you the same question now with respect to authenticated document collection number 2, which, in your report, appears as the very next entry.  Again, there are two pages.  Here they are marked K0042552 and K0042486.  Can you tell us how does the handwriting compare as between those two pages?

A.
In my opinion, they are made by the same hand.

Q.
Comparing authenticated document collection 1 and authenticated document collection 2, how do those materials compare?

A.
Mr. President, authentic collection document 1 -- authenticated document collection 1, which comprises two pages, that's K0239549 and K0166330, are made by the same hand, in my opinion.  And the authenticated document collection 2, that is K0042552 and K0042486, are also by one hand.  The two compared together are made by different people.

Q.
Thank you, Superintendent.  I have a few more questions about some of the characters in other test collections.  The first questions I've got, and the next few questions relate to test collection A and test collection B.  And here I think you have in your small green binder a highlighted sample of what I'm going to direct your attention to.  If you look at test collection A and look first to the page that is marked K0239533.
A.
Yes.

Q.
Do you see the word "grenades"?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Have you highlighted that word on a separate copy of that page?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Now, looking next to test collection B, the page marked K0091659?

MR. PRESIDENT:
Let us now find, all of us, the word "grenade".  So can you repeat the last two digits, please?

MR. WHITE: 
Yes, Mr. President, 9533 -- 33.

MR. PRESIDENT:
And there are two pages here, which one?  Left or right?

THE WITNESS:
On the left there is the word "grenade", which I have already highlighted for the screen.

BY MR. WHITE:

Q.
Can you put that up on the screen?

A.
Yes.  I hope you can be able to locate it now.

Q.
If you look at test collection B, this is the page marked K0091659, do you also see the word "grenade"?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Have you lie highlighted that word on a separate copy of that page?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Can you show us that on the overhead monitor and compare the two words for us?

MR. CONSTANT:
I'm sorry, Mr. President.  I am quite surprised by the turn of events, and I'm going to return to 
cross-examination.  Whether it's a comparison between General Dallaire and the others, Mr. White knew that he would ask questions, but this is not in the expert report.  It does not exist in the expert report, either both his conclusions and the photos.  So can I be told at least where does the second "grenade" come from?  That is after this comment that I just made.

MR. WHITE:
Yes, well, just for the record on that last point, the second instance of the word "grenade" is taken from test collection B at page K0091659.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Which was part of the report.

MR. WHITE: 
It's part of the report, exactly.  I'm not dealing with anything that is outside of the report at this point.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Mr. Tremblay. 

MR. TREMBLAY:
Mr. President, I have to intervene because I feel very ill at ease.  I would like to reiterate what my colleague Constant has said, because this methodology should have been disclosed to us.  The report would have given us an idea on the methods of work of this gentleman, so I think this is incorrect to bring out such comparisons while we were not forewarned.  I think this involves the quality of the report, the methodology, itself, of which we should have been informed.

MR. PRESIDENT:
What this expert witness is doing is to explain his methodology based on the material which is part of his report.  That's what's happening.

MR. CONSTANT:
Mr. President, you have the right to admit this, but this is the first time that I'm seeing it in my life.  There are 100 pages in question, and today we are being presented with small excerpts of which we were not aware.  If the Chamber admits that, I have to defer to them, but this is the very first time in my life that I'm seeing this.

MR. PRESIDENT:
These pages are part of the report which we have all had now for many weeks.  

Yes, next question.

BY MR. WHITE: 

Q.
Superintendent, you had those two comparisons up on the screen.  Can you tell us how do the words compare?

A.
Mr. President, these are images from two different documents, that is from test collection document and authenticated document.  No, there is a mix-up.

Q.
We are looking here at test collection A and test collection B; is that correct?

A.
That's correct, Mr. President.  I was just getting a little bit mixed up.  Here we are going to look at the word "grenade".  Inasmuch as these are photocopies documents, if you look at the screen before you, if you look at the length of the word "grenade" in both the documents, the length more or less falls in between more or less the same in length.  If you look at the formation of letter G, then the spacing between G and R, that is repeated in both the letters.  All through to letter D you will find the fluency of forming letter D and the curve making E is strikingly similar, Mr. President, so it's my conclusion that these handwritings are made by the same hand.

MR. WHITE:
Mr. President, I see that it's 11 o'clock, the normal time for the break.  I can advise that I have a little bit more on this methodology.  There is another six pages to look at, and then I have a few questions just about the actual opinion that is contained in the report, and then I will conclude, so I think we are probably 15 or 20 minutes from finishing this witness.  I'm prepared to do that after the break.
MR. PRESIDENT:
So we will have the break now for 15 or 20 minutes.  
(Court recessed from 1100H to 1130H)
MR. PRESIDENT:
Mr. White. 

MR. WHITE: 
Thank you, Mr. President. 

BY MR. WHITE:

Q.
Superintendent Nyanjwa, I'm going to ask you to make some comparison between another six pages of excerpts of materials.  Let's start with the first four pages.  We will extract those and then you can show them to us on the monitor and then we will compare them all collectively at the end.  

The first page I'd like to you extract is from authenticated document collection number 1, that is the page that is marked K0239547, and I want you to direct your attention in particular to the words "Booh Booh" -- B-O-O-H, B-O-O-H.  Do you see that word?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Have you highlighted that word on a separate copy of that page?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Just for reference so the Court can follow on, can you show us that on the overhead monitor?

A.
This is the document I'm talking about.

Q.
Can you show us the word "Booh Booh"?  Let's find the next document that I want you to compare this with.  This is from test collection A.  This is the page that is marked K0239544.  I want you to look for a variety of examples of the word "bourgmestre" that is also spelled with capital letter B.  Have you highlighted examples of that word on a separate copy of that page?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Looking at the overhead monitor, can you compare those?

A.
I would say this -- you're talking of K0239544, which I'm going to compare with K0239547.  Here we're going to look at various collected combinations where capital B is followed with the letter O.  
Mr. President, we've got a variety of these character combinations here, and if you can take a close look at the character combinations of letter Bs and Os in both the images, you'll find a lot of similarities, especially how B terminates and the stroke is taken upward to form the completion of letter O.  This is repeated elsewhere also on the same document.  I have it here.  This is by no coincidence that two different persons would repeat this kind of habit in handwriting -- display this kind of habit in handwriting.  And if you look here again, Mr. President, this is no coincidence, but this is handwriting habit that can only be displayed by one person, and it's my opinion that both the documents were made by one hand.

Q.
Still we are going to look at the letter B, so hang on to those documents, and I want to direct your attention now to an excerpt from test collection B.  This is the page that is marked K0091661.  Do you have that page?

A.
Yes, I do.

Q.
Have you highlighted a portion of that page?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Can you show us that on the monitor?

A.
Mr. President, this is the document.  So here I have highlighted some regions of the document with the writings group A and group B.

Q.
Now, we want to compare these same phrases with another excerpt, and this is also taken from test collection B.  This is marked K0091648.  The heading at the top of the page is "Order de bataille".  1648.  Have you got this page?

A.
Yes, this is the document.

Q.
Have you highlighted a portion of that page?

A.
Yes, I've done.

Q.
Can you show us those highlighted portions on the monitor?

A.
Mr. President, I want to compare the writing with the word group A.  For example, I would like you to look in particular at the formation of letter G in both the documents.  You will find that on top of the letter G, if you look at this area I'm pointing to with the pen, and you look at the same area down here, you find that the writer makes more or less like a crossbar on top of G, and this is repeated in both the documents, and similarly, when we come to letter A, you will find that there is a continuation of a string of ink right from the initial to the terminal stroke without lifting the pen where A closes -- where, I mean ink closes touching on the left bar of the letter A.  I'm sorry that this is repeated here.  Unfortunately, the image cannot be enhanced better than this for better visualisation, but under a stereo microscope it shows so well, and this is repeated elsewhere in the same document.  

I would show you some other As that have similar combinations, though not highlighted, but if you look at the A down there and the A on the highlighted document, they show striking similarity.  These are repeated elsewhere also.  There are so many As.  If you can read the second name, Munyamibi, a similar A exists.  There I'm pointing with the pen, so it's my opinion that both the handwritings are made with the same hand.  And maybe to --

MR. CONSTANT:
Can we have the numbering of the last document where you have Munyililiza (phonetic)?

MR. WHITE:
It's K0091648 --

THE WITNESS: 
It's on the monitor.
MR. WHITE: 
From test collection B.

MR. PRESIDENT:
So it's the same document as where we had group A.  We just have to look a few lines down.

THE WITNESS:
Mr. President, I wanted to say that, maybe to stress the point further, the writer displays one habit which is very hard to come across of mixing capital letters with small letters.  If you can see, put the documents displayed on the screen, there is the word "activities".  You will find the writer combining upper and lower case letters as he writes, and this is repeated throughout the document.  If we look also at the document marked as K0091648, you will find that the same thing happens.  There is a bit of mixing upper case and lower case letters.

BY MR. WHITE: 

Q.
For the record, the screen is showing a highlighted portion of a name "Sergeant Nzeyimana"; is that correct?

A.
Yes.

Q.
And on the document that we are looking at, does that highlighted name appear under the indication of group A?

A.
Yes.

Q.
If you look under the group B heading, is there also a name that you have highlighted?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Can you show us that?

A.
There is Sergeant Rwajokare, under group B on the same document, K0091648.

Q.
Now, Inspector, I want to ask you, these last four pages that we have just looked at, how do they compare in terms of similarity of handwriting and the author of the document?

A.
Mr. President, it's my opinion that the documents have a common author in the sense that they are made by the same hand.

Q.
Finally, then, looking at the last series of images, I want you to turn to some materials that have been marked as document 13 materials.  These are the pages marked L0008679 and 8688?

A.
Yes.

Q.
On those two pages, do you also see references to group A and B that we just saw in the previous document?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Do you also see references to the two names that we just saw on the previous document?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Can you compare the writings of group A and group B and the names as between those two documents?
MR. PRESIDENT:
I think you need to assist us first to find this new document.  You referred to 13, did you? 

MR. WHITE: 
Mr. President, this is the material that was initially presented to the Court through Max Nkole.  It's part of the US State Department FBI materials.  It was referred to or marked there as document 13.

MR. PRESIDENT:
So you are outside the folder now, or are you inside the folder?

MR. WHITE:
Now we are outside the written report.  These two pages that I'm now referring the witness to outside the written report that was filed on May the 28th.

MR. PRESIDENT:
So you are at the end of this green folder now, aren't you, because here there are some extra pages which seem to be from the Nkole report?
MR. WHITE: 
Exactly right.

MR. PRESIDENT:
So what you want us to look at now is this last tab, and you draw our attention to the last digits 79 and 88.  Where are you now, 79 or 88?

THE WITNESS:
79.

MR. PRESIDENT:
That's document 13 under the tab 19 of -- which was not admitted so far.

MR. WHITE: 
Correct.

MR. PRESIDENT:
And which part do you want us to look at now we have found the document, Mr. Witness?  What do you want us to look at?

THE WITNESS: 
I want us to look at the highlighted areas that is shown on the screen before you, that is the writings group A, and the name Sergeant Nzeyimana, which I'm going to compare with --

MR. CONSTANT:
Mr. President, I would like to point out that these reports are not in the document as far as the will-say is concerned.  Normally -- on Friday, I understood that we will not make reference to them.

MR. PRESIDENT:
What we agreed on Friday was that these documents where the Defence may have remarks will be taken at the end of the examination-in-chief, and that is what you are doing now, isn't it?  
MR. WHITE: 
Yes, Mr. President, that's precisely what I'm doing.  I have three or four questions of a general nature after this, and then I'm done.

MR. PRESIDENT:
So this is the time to make comments on these pages, if you so wish.

MR. CONSTANT:
Mr. President, for the last one hour I'm very surprised because there are new elements, but the Chamber tells us that they are in the reports.  I'm going to revisit that in my cross-examination.  Having said that --

MR. PRESIDENT:
No, Mr. Constant, the page 79 was not in the report.  There is agreement.  This is new.  So this is only a translation problem.  We are having a communication problem, you and me now, because it's being interpreted.  What I'm saying is the following: Mr. White has left the report originally which was disclosed some weeks ago.  Then he is coming back to some other documents which were not in the original report, which do not form part of the annexes to the original expert report.  These new reports come from the Nkole binder, and he's now introducing them, and what I said was simply that when this was raised on Friday, I invited to you come back to this today, and then I asked the Prosecutor kindly to wait with these contested documents to the end of his examination-in-chief so that we shouldn't waste time in the beginning of the chief, but can rather address the issue now, so that is where we stand.  So, what are your comments on this issue? 

MR. CONSTANT:
I'm going to return to the first aspect of your statement, but I'm going to limit yourself to what you asked me of.  

Mr. President, the problem arising concerning this last aspect, as I told you, I think that was last Thursday, we received a will-say statement dated -- or, rather, a will-say statement on 16 June.  That statement showed that the witness had been given a new bundle of documents, L0009679 to L009694, and in that will-say statement, Mr. White indicated that the expert present here allegedly said that it was the same writing as the writing of those who wrote and attributed what they wrote -- the Bagosora document K0239547 and K0166330.  I suppose that this is additional analysis, but in any case, Mr. President, we received these documents within the time limit of 21 days and we are simply asking you to set them aside.  Perhaps we will receive them not within the time limit of 21 days, because we think that the time limit provided for by the Rules of Procedure and Evidence was not respected by the Prosecutor who should have disclosed these documents 21 days before 
Mr. Nyanjwa appears before the Court.  

I think the fact of saying that it is the follow up of the other expert report does not appear convincing because we have documents that are significantly different in this bundle as compared to the previous bundle of documents.  I therefore think that this cannot be accepted.  

I would also like the tell the Chamber -- and that is what I was saying earlier on, Mr. President -- we have comparisons that have been done with respect to what we already knew, but the comparisons are not in the report.  We are going to discuss them, but here these are comparisons that we did not know.  Not only comparisons we did not know, but documents we did not know, so this is a handicap for the Defence, and that is why I'm requesting that this witness should not testify to the document that Mr. White calls FBI, which documents are the subject of a will-say statement of 16 June 2004.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Thank you.  

Mr. Tremblay. 

MR. TREMBLAY:
We are venturing into dangerous days and the Chamber should deny the Prosecutor this type of expedition.  In any case, I saw will-say, and you know what I think of will-say statements with regard to witnesses of facts, but here we are dealing with a will-say statement of an expert witness, and this is entirely new.  This is a novelty, and the Chamber should not allow such a procedure to continue.  Rule 94 of the Rules of Procedure and Evidence is very clear in this respect -- Rule 94 bis, rather.  It states that the expert report must be disclosed in its entirety to the other party as soon as possible and, in any case, it should be filed with the Trial Chamber not later than 21 days before the list provided -- before the testimony of the witness. 

Mr. Constant pointed this out.  We are completely outside you the -- or below the 21 days.  We are below the 21 days, and the Chamber should not accept this procedure which seems to me to be entirely unlawful in view of the rules by which we are governed.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Prosecution. 

MR. WHITE: 
Mr. President, my learned friends are absolutely correct that these materials did arrive to them outside of the 21 day limit.  The only issue I take with respect to the commentary that my friend Mr. Constant made was whether or not the Prosecutor respected the limit or not.  The Prosecutor certainly respects the limit, but was not able to comply with the limit in this circumstance.  Some of these materials were referred to by a previous witness and, as a consequence of the way in which the materials came to the Prosecutor, they did not come in a timely enough manner to include these materials with the materials that were originally sent to this witness.  

Having said that, what the Prosecutor disagrees with, in terms of the submission by my learned friends, is whether or not there is any unfair prejudice to the Defence as a result of allowing this witness to testify as to what he knows about these materials.  The admissibility aside, the question is whether this witness should be allowed to say what he knows about these materials.

Now, my learned friends did not specifically address the issue of unfair prejudice.  It's clear that the materials, if we anticipate what the witness might say, it's clear that these materials will be prejudicial in that they will support the Prosecution's case and they will make it more difficult for the Defence to mount a successful challenge.  What is unfair about this process, respectfully, is if these materials are excluded, the Prosecution will not be in a position to draw the level of detail about the involvement of one of the Accused to these materials.  Now, this witness does not deal with the substance of the materials, but I must make a comment with respect to the substance as it pertains to the unfair prejudice to the Prosecution if the materials are not admitted and if this witness cannot comment upon them.  

The unfair prejudice is this: we've already heard that there is this list of materials, group A and group B, with certain names attached.  The document 13 materials, with respect, are an expansion of those.  They include more names.  It's a long list of names; it's over 700 names, and it includes, apparently, the telephone numbers of individuals on that list.  Now, if that evidence is in fact in the handwriting of one of the Accused, that is highly relevant, highly probative and of great assistance to the Chamber to establish the level of the involvement and the detailed nature of planning and organisation and conspiracy with respect to the events that transpired in Rwanda in 1994.  

Without this lengthy list of names and telephone numbers, the Prosecution is not going to be in a position to establish that level of detail, although the nature of lists per se will have already been included in other materials, that is the group A and group B lists regarding civil defence.  So, with respect, the issue of admissibility aside from this witness, this witness ought to be allowed to say what he knows about these materials and the Court could properly rule on whether or not they are admissible either now or at a later stage after due consideration.

There is no question that my learned friends did not receive these within the 21 day limit, and the 21 day limit is certainly something that we seek to comply with and aspire to adhere to.  There are circumstances where that isn't possible and this is one of those.  

These are all my submissions.

MR. TREMBLAY:
Mr. President, if you would allow me, the provision in English and in French is an imperative, a binding provision, a mandatory provision.  It is clearly written "shall", and "shall" is very clear in English.  I do not see how a provision, a binding provision can be circumvented by alleging circumstances of time or any prejudice, possible prejudice that the Prosecutor would suffer if the document were not admitted.  I would request the Trial Chamber to apply the rules. 

MR. CONSTANT:
Mr. President, I would like to say two things.  The first is that perhaps, perhaps we would have been able to accede to Mr. White's argument if he were able to prove -- given, or with respect to the time limit, since he wants to close his case by the 14th of July -- if he were able to prove that he recently discovered the famous document in question.  We say so because from reading the report we know that the Office of the Prosecutor visited Mr. Nyanjwa on 18th May and 27th May, but I would like to remind you  -- 25th of May, rather, but I would like to remind you that Mr. Nkole explained that the documents in question are documents which are extracted or taken from the document that the FBI agents apparently handed to the Office of the Prosecutor in 1995 or maybe 1996.  Therefore, the Office of the Prosecutor has in its possession these documents since eight years ago, so I do not see how, after eight years, they are unable to comply with the time limit of 21 days.  

The second comment, Mr. President, that I would like to make is the following: I heard that -- perhaps once more it is a problem of translation.  I heard that there is a list of 700 names.  I did not see a list of 700 names.  I saw several lists that ranged from one to 50 or one to 60 with different titles.  Some of them talk of platoons.  Therefore, clearly, an attempt is being made to tell you, "Well, I have a list.  Do not prevent me from using that list I have."  

What I mean to say is that I'm not in agreement with that because do not allow yourself to be impressed by the 700 names being referred to, and we should stick to compliance with the rules, namely, that this is an expert report that we are being told of and the purpose of expert report is to show that one of the Accused prepared these lists, but I'm saying that there is no reason why there should be a waiver to the time limit of 21 days provided for under the Rules of Procedure and Evidence.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Just for the record, I think this 700 days document was a reference to document 13 annexed to the FBI report in tab 19 of the Nkole, and you are quite right, Mr. Constant, that there is no list amounting to 700 names in document 13 appended to the FBI report, but there are many pages, and on each page there is about 20 to 25 names, and I assume that what Mr. Drew White has done is to calculate and find that that amounts to 700 names. 

MR. WHITE: 
Yes, Mr. President, that is exactly what I had done.
MR. PRESIDENT:
But that is not the main issue, it was just to clarify the matter for the record.

Do you have anything on the issue that these documents have been in the possession of the Prosecution for some years?  Any comment on that?

MS. MULVANEY:
Mr. President, Your Honours, the documents came to our attention in February when we disclosed them to the Defence.  At that time we did not realise that they were possibly in the handwriting of the defendant.  There were two different projects going on.  We were having the diary analysed, and that was one attorney, and these other documents were being looked at by another attorney.  I think it was only while we were presenting Max Nkole in his testimony that we looked at the documents and just visually, you know, you can see that there is a handwriting similarity, and so we made the connection, and to facilitate the Court, we submitted those documents for analysis also.  

You know, in many regional jurisdictions the trier of fact can draw their own conclusions as to the handwriting.  In the Federal Rules of Evidence in the United States, the trier of fact can make that decision themselves.  A handwriting expert can assist the Court, but it's also within the providence of the court to make that conclusion also.  So we regret that we were not able to do it in a more timely fashion, but we did the best we could, and when we saw the connection, we sent the documents up to be analysed.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Prosecution, do you know of any case law that would support a narrow interpretation of Rule 94(B)? 

MS. GRAHAM:
Your Honours, I came in in the midst of this, but Mr. White -- I hope I understood him correctly.  The Prosecution is not aware of any case law that would narrow this witness's testimony only to that that was put into the report.  The same issue arose in relation to Alison Des Forges, and there we made argument as to whether a witness is allowed to elaborate and include additional facts while on the stand -- that is an expert witness, and I believe we actually relied on basic trial advocacy books in making the argument at that point, but I have no case law at hand.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Are you saying that this arose in connection with Alison Des Forges?  Because I think it could well be argued that this is a new element.  This is a matter that would otherwise have formed part of the report because it's a link to different documents; it's not an elaboration, it's something new, and for that reason, the parallel with Alison Des Forges is not really pertinent, it could be said.

MS. GRAHAM: 
Yes, but the question must surely be is the underlying document new to the Defence, and in what way, if any, does the introduction of this aspect of the expert witness testimony affect the Defence ability to cross-examine?  Surely that must be the issue, and unless they can demonstrate that they are unable to do so, I can't see how we can be prevented from broadening the underlying material on which this expert renders an opinion.

MR. PRESIDENT:
But now you are making the link between the introduction of the new element and cross-examination, whereas the wording on 94 bis, unlike other provisions dealing with witnesses, lays down an explicit deadline, apparently aimed at avoiding surprise and thereby having an absolute rule of 21.

MS. GRAHAM:
Your Honours, I don't share the opinion that that is the purpose of Rule 94 bis.  I think the purpose of 94 bis is one of expedience, and the point here is for the party putting forward an expert to put the report to the other party so that that party can express an opinion as to whether or not the party wants to cross-examine.  Trying to avoid unnecessary cross-examinations, that is the purpose of the rule.  It's not to secure a 21 day time limit during which the party should think about whether to 
cross-examine.  It's a trial management rule aimed at limiting unnecessary examinations, because the idea, the underlying purpose of this provision was that, hopefully, in some cases the opposing party may not want to cross-examine and accept the statement of the expert and it goes in on paper.

MR. PRESIDENT:
We have listened carefully to the arguments submitted by both parties.  Our present inclination is not to accept this element.  It is of a character that would normally have been part of an expert report.  It is now being introduced, not in order to elaborate the report which is written, but in order to supplement it with evidence of a different character, opening up other issues.  

The wording in Rule 94 bis is rather clear.  We would have thought that its purpose is to avoid surprise and to give 21 days as a minimum time to prepare for the cross-examination of the report, and also generally prepare in connection with the leading of the report.

This being said, we will look a little bit further into the matter to see whether there are any legal sources that we are overlooking, but for the time being, we have to close the door for this evidence.

Ms. Mulvaney. 

MS. MULVANEY:
Mr. President, Your Honours, just one little point.  This witness was brought here and the Court and counsel were notified that he was coming here to identify Bagosora's handwriting and explain to the Court the loops and swirls and how you can identify Bagosora's and Ntabakuze's handwriting.  That was the purpose of his visit.  

We often have witnesses that have a statement, but then immediately before, within 24 hours before the person testifies, we come up with the exhibits we are going to use with that witness, and basically we are doing the same thing here.  First of all, the Court, number one, is being educated on how to identify the handwriting of defendants.  He's used the same methodology and we have just added another exhibit.  We haven't changed the overall character of his testimony at all.  He's basically got a huge foundation where he has explained the loops and the curls and how you can identify it.  We have just added one more document which we do all the time.  We always add documents.  Even Alison Des Forges, the documents she was going to use were not known until shortly before she testified, and the Court has been -- we have all been here together over the last 170 days and we know the routine.  It's that we submit it within X amount of time, but I don't think that it should be excluded, and then the other path of admission is, again, the Court has been basically tutored now on what the defendant's handwriting looks like, and the Court can make its own independent decision that it is in fact in the handwriting of the defendant.

MR. PRESIDENT:
And here the Prosecution came up with a new argument, namely, the issue of exclusion versus postponement, giving more time.  Now, what is the Defence view on that argument? 

MR. CONSTANT:
Mr. President, as regards to form, I realise that it has become routine for the OTP to question the decision made by the Court, and I think it's an example because the Defence always tries to defer to your discussion, even when we are not pleased, so we regret this modus operandi.  

Now, with regards to Alison Des Forges, I want to say something.  She had to testify in April 2002 and the testimony was postponed because the expert report was not disclosed to us in French language within the specific time limits, so she finally had to testify in September when we had all the material.  The only problem was about her authorities, because in her expert report there was some footnotes, but on this issue, another case law was mentioned, and it was that the expert was not bound, so the Court had to draw the conclusions in order to mention all the authorities.  That was the only problem concerning Alison Des Forges's report to the best of my knowledge, and I don't see how we can link it up with this witness.  

The problem with this matter is that the OTP is in possession of material for a long time.  It may be possible that it's only at the end of February that they discovered that the documents had been in the handwriting of Bagosora, but in any case, even if they discovered that in February, they would have had enough time between February and June to contact an expert and to have the documents available to us within the prescribed time limits.  

We have received many pages and we had to work on with this expert, and we have taken time to think on them and thereafter to discuss these issues with the expert.  Now we have been introduced to a new document, and consequently a document we did not have the sufficient time to prepare, and that is the whole issue with the 21-day time limit.  We do not have enough time to conduct investigations on what the expert is saying or to contact some other expert to ascertain the truthfulness of what the expert is saying, but between the 16th and 21st June, we have not had time to do this work, so it is clear that we are not going to be in the position to cross-examine this witness, this expert witness, because here we are talking about expert testimony.  

And the FBI document, we have not had time to get the necessary information, and it is impossible for this to be done within five days.  We are in Arusha.  We can't find handwriting experts anywhere around, so we need time to get in contact with them, and as Mr. Nyanjwa, himself, has said, this is not an exact science and it requires some merging manoeuvre, so this means that we need to have enough time in order to prepare ourselves for a valid cross-examination, because I want to believe that the Court has understood that what is going to happen in the cross-examination with this gentleman is that we will come back to all the expert analysis item after item -- what is in the report and what we have discovered today.  So you have to go down to them, take them one after the other and say, "Why did you do this?  How did you come about this?"  This is a very practical exercise and this practical exercise should be done with, or cannot be done with a package of 80 to 90 pages, the diaries and excerpts of the Belgian report.  So I think it is difficult to add a number of pages which we have not had time to study, so I think that this submission of Ms. Mulvaney cannot really put to question the decision you have taken, so I simply pray you to confirm your decision.

MR. PRESIDENT:
As I said, we will look a little bit more into the legal sources.  This was our preliminary decision.  We will then, when we are doing this, take into account the submissions from that side and that side after our preliminary decisions.  

Do you have any other issues, Mr. White, except from these new documents, in connection with this expert?
MR. WHITE:
Yes, I have a few other issues, and just as a practical matter, if we are to understand that the Chamber will consider these issues with respect to the document 13 materials further, I want to point out that at this stage of the direct examination, I haven't actually asked the witness for any opinion as to what these materials might be.  It may be very practical to simply put those two or three questions to this witness now so that issue is finished and the Chamber can decide whether to disregard that or include it at some future time.  Otherwise, the possibility, I think, would be that if the Chamber considers whether this material ought to be admissible, we then would have to recall the witness for a continuation of the direct examination specifically on that material, and it's really only two or three questions.  So, with respect, I think it may be wise to simply go ahead, ask him about these materials, finish that, and then tender the other materials without tendering the document 13 materials.

MR. PRESIDENT:
That would be unusual and could create a false impression.  So, the most clean way of doing this is that we come back to you very rapidly on this issue instead of allowing you to proceed and have some kind of lack of clarity as to what is in the record and what is not.  Now, do you have other questions in relation to this expert than that referred to in document 13?

MR. WHITE: 
Yes, I have very few questions and then I will seek to tender the other materials. 

BY MR. WHITE: 

Q.
Superintendent Nyanjwa, other than the letters and the specific words or characters contained in the documents that you analysed, were there any other indicators that assisted you in arriving at an opinion with respect to the handwriting samples?

A.
Yes, Your Honour.  Mr. President, on various documents I could find various words underlined, giving the impression of their importance to the writer, and this was repeated over several documents, so this was an additional indicator as to the common ownership of the documents in question.

Q.
Other than the underlining, were there any other marks contained within the body of the handwriting sample that would also assist you in arriving at your opinion?

A.
Yes, there were also other sketches apart from underlinings, like bracketing some words which I could find repeated on other documents.

JUDGE REDDY:
The underlinings, I didn't quite follow the significance of it.  Were these underlinings of same or similar words, or just underlining generally?

THE WITNESS:
It's not underlining generally.  The writer had a habit that, after doing several pages of a document, maybe after going through them, I guess, you find that some areas are underlined and some areas are bracketed, and, as I say, some are not underlined.  Some you find that lines are drawn parallel to the page and some lines are drawn on the left-hand side down along the wording, and the like.

JUDGE REDDY:
So these are not necessarily similar ideas, similar words, but just generally.

THE WITNESS:
Yes, yes.

BY MR. WHITE: 

Q.
Superintendent Nyanjwa, you were provided with handwriting samples of something, I think, just over 100 pages.  Can you give us some indication as to whether, in your experience, that is either a small sample, a large sample or a normal sample of writing for you to analyse?

A.
That was a normal sample.

Q.
When you considered the handwriting samples, did you consider it in the totality of the pages that you were provided or did you consider it only with respect to the particular photo images and highlights that you have drawn our attention to?

A.
In totality.  The photos were just taken randomly.

Q.
After your comparative analysis of the totality of the handwriting samples, were you able to draw any conclusions and form any opinions?

A.
Yes, I did.

Q.
Are those opinions contained in your written report?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Thank you, Superintendent.  

MR. WHITE:
If it please the Chamber, the Prosecution wishes to tender a collection of documents at this point.  I believe the last previous document was P. 276, and I'm going to suggest that the next one be P. 277 ought to be the curriculum vitae, followed by the expert opinion report, followed by --

MR. PRESIDENT:
With the cover letter, or without?  

MR. WHITE:
Without the cover letter.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Just the report.

MR. WHITE: 
Just the report.  I think we've provided the actual copy to be tendered to the registry, to 
Mr. Matemanga.

MR. PRESIDENT:
P. 278 for the four pages report.

MR. WHITE: 
And that would include all of the attachments that we are tendering as well, followed by three additional exhibits.  These would be the highlighted extracts that Inspector Nyanjwa referred to, and with respect to the first two, these were the ones comparing "General Dallaire" -- and I have actually drawn that up as a list, rather than just reading it all out, if it's of any assistance to the Chamber and Mr. Matemanga -- followed by the highlighted extracts with reference to the grenades.  That is another two pages, and followed by the highlighted extracts of the final four pages I'll refer to as the group B materials.  

That would bring us up to Exhibit P.  281.  Mr. Matemanga, if I can provide you with that list, I've got the document and exhibit codes there, if you wish.

The list that I'm providing, Mr. President, is the list I have just suggested with the exception of item number 7, which is the document 13 materials which we are not dealing with now, so items 1 through 6.

MR. PRESIDENT:
And, Mr. Matemanga, you will kindly provide a copy of this list, which is very helpful, to the Defence, and also of these additional photocopies of the highlighted portions.

MR. WHITE: 
Yes, I believe that the superintendent is in possession of the highlighted portions.

MR. PRESIDENT:
So if Mr. Matemanga could then copy P. 279 to P. 281 to everyone, and he will get it from the Superintendent, then we will all have everything available.

Thank you. 
(Exhibit No. P. 277 admitted)
(Exhibit No. P. 278 admitted)
(Exhibit No. P. 279 admitted)
(Exhibit No. P. 280 admitted)
(Exhibit No. P. 281 admitted)
(Pages 23 to 50 by Trevor Gerbes)
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JUDGE EGOROV:
Mr. Witness, may I ask you a question, as you are an expert.  The -- you examined the documents which were allegedly written by Mr. Ntabakuze and Bagosora.  Am I correct?

THE WITNESS:
Yes, you're correct, Your Honour.

JUDGE EGOROV:
The documents written by Bagosora, were they written by the same pen?  Was it possible for you to establish that?

THE WITNESS:
It was not possible to establish that since they were photocopies.

JUDGE EGOROV:
You couldn't do it?

THE WITNESS:
As to identity of the pen, whether it was one pen or different colour of ink, that was difficult to tell --

JUDGE EGOROV:
I see.

THE WITNESS:
-- since they are photocopies.

JUDGE EGOROV:
And the same with the documents of -- by Ntabakuze?

THE WITNESS:
Yes.

JUDGE EGOROV:
Thank you.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Defence? 

MS. MULVANEY:
Mr. President, Your Honours, before counsel starts, there was something that Mr. Constant had said, and I just wanted to clear it up because we have a different Bench now than we had in the beginning.  And Mr. Constant had talked about Alison Des Forges's documents, and I just want to explain a little bit to the Court.  We had a -- we had a case file at that time.  We had designated all the documents that we had found so far, and we had tabbed them and put them on a CD, and we were actually trying to move them in.  It was item 1 through 273.  That's -- those are the documents we've designated as important pieces of evidence in this case. 

It was only shortly before Ms. Des Forges testified that we selected the documents that would go in through her.  We also did the same thing with Max Nkole.  We had our case file.  There are certain documents that we need to get in, and so we bring them in through different witnesses. 

I submit to you it's the same -- same situation.  We've got a big body of documents, and we need to put them in through witnesses.  And so we make the connection generally a week or two before which documents we're going to use, and I don't see that this is any different than that.  He is an expert.  He is a good person to put this document through, and I don't want to start a precedent where we are confined to the four corners of the expert statement when it comes up to the next couple of witnesses where we've got more experts or all of a sudden we find out -- we're at the safe house and we find out that the person we're talking to scribed the document.  So we don't want to be bound in that way. 

And then there's another thing that I think needs to be addressed.  These documents are in the handwriting of some of the defendants.  They've had them since February.  You know, handwriting is a physical identification.  They can look at it, and they know it's their handwriting.  You know, we're the ones that are in the dark poking around trying to find out how to get things in and what the significance is.  They know what the documents are.  But I just wanted to explain that the case file and the witnesses and how we're trying to -- to get in the evidence that we need to get in convict the defendants.

MR. PRESIDENT:
I see now that we are reopening the issue which is, of course, as I indicated, not closed forever, but I would have thought that we were now on the way to cross-examination.  But in view of 

Mrs. Mulvaney, do you have a few words before cross-examination, or are you moving directly to cross-examination now, Mr. Constant? 

MR. CONSTANT:
I really don't know want else to do, Mr. President.  Madam Mulvaney stated so many facts that I think are incorrect, I don't know whether I should talk about that or I should talk about Witness Nyanjwa.  I am just lost.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Since she stood up and made these additional arguments, you have to be able to do the same before your cross. 

MR. CONSTANT:
Mr. President, I think we are taking a very wrong approach in this Chamber because usually in the Prosecution's office when -- when there is a decision, there is always question until you cede.  I think this is a policy that seems shocking to me, but regarding what Madam said, Madam Mulvaney is confusing Mr. Nkole with the witness -- the expert witness, and there's no comparison there. 

Regarding Madam Alison Des Forges, it is true that since she came, documents were presented to us.  You can read and reread, there were incidents regarding the presentations of these documents because these documents concern the expert report of Madam Des Forges and the specific period, and there is a problem regarding the Melvern Foundation documents because Madam Des Forges was not at the origin of these documents.  And the Prosecutor said this witness, this other expert, was going to come to present them.  So she is confusing everything, mixing everything up, because on the one hand, Alison Des Forges is giving her expert opinion on documents regarding a report that she submitted, that is one thing.  And on the other hand, there is a witness who is given a new document, and he has to carry out a new analysis, except which I doubt it is just sufficient to repeat that analysis.  So we are not following a logical sequence.  This is a new expertise, even if the documents are supposed to be the same, in brackets.  And on the basis of this, Mr. President, I think the comparison that is being done by Madam Mulvaney does not seems to me to be proper. 

And she has also said that our clients know that it is their writings and that they're the ones in confusion.  I don't understand.  If we are contesting the expert report and we are saying that this is not from the hand of my client, I really do not understand why Madam Mulvaney is confused, because this is an obvious fact that we are contesting for a long time. 

And regarding the diary, since September 2001 we have been raising that problem.  So it is almost two years regarding the new documents and various writings, I discovered them in February.  And, frankly, it was only on May -- 31st May when I received a report of 25th May that I understood that this handwriting was being attributed to my client, because this question has not -- had not been raised with me before.  And when I discuss with my client, we contested, we disputed what this gentleman's report was stating as from that time, so I really do not understand that confusion. 

The Chamber said that they are going to verify, but the cross of Mr. Nyanjwa may not end today, and so the Chamber is going to verify, but we don't have to -- have to be coming back to this same thing all the time because it becomes tedious. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Shall we now start our cross-examination? 

MR. CONSTANT:
We great pleasure, Mr. President.  I am here for that. 

CROSS-EXAMINATION

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Once again, good afternoon, Mr. Witness.

Before we go into the substance, I would like to understand exactly how you went about your work and also that we should draw up an inventory of all the documents that you say you analysed before we get into the specifics.

If I understood well, you were visited on the 18th of May by two officials of the Office of the Prosecutor; is that correct?

A.
That's correct.

Q.
Can you tell me, during this first meeting, what did they give you as documents?  I may be able to assist you.  What I want to know is, the documents that -- collection one, part one, were they given to you, that is, the two handwritings that are supposed to be those of Bagosora?

A.
Yes, they were given to me.

Q.
The two handwritings alleged to be those of Ntabakuze, were they also given to you that same day?

A.
Yes.

Q.
The 26 pages of the diary also, that is what you referred to as test collection A?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Was test collection B also given to you that same day?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Did the documents also include test collection C?

A.
Yes, test collection C was brought on 25th of May.

Q.
If I understand you well, on the 18th of May, you were given the handwritings of Bagosora, Ntabakuze, the diary that is said to be Bagosora's, as well as the manuscript documents amounting to 53 pages; is that correct?

A.
Yes, I would not be able to remember exactly the number of documents that were brought to me off hand right now because the records I left in Nairobi, but on the 25th of May, additional documents were added which were -- contained the collection marked C.

Q.
Are you sure or you are not sure, Mr. Witness, because you are beginning something else because you are telling me that you don't know exactly what you are saying, but if I understand well, you said collection C was given to you on the 25th of May.  Just so as to avoid any misunderstanding, you received everything on the 18th of May except collection C which you received on the 25th of May; is that correct?

A.
That is correct.

Q.
Thank you very much.

Do we agree, just so that there should be no misunderstanding, that the documents on which you were not interviewed -- you were not led were given to you after the 25th of May?

A.
Yeah, that was given to me after the 25th of May.

Q.
Can we know when exactly?

A.
I would not be able to remember the date exactly off hand.  I'm sorry about that.

Q.
Very well.  So you analysed all the documents except collection C, that is initially, and then later on you analysed collection C; is that correct?

A.
That is not correct.  Before I finished my analysis, the test collection marked C was added, so the document actually did leave my office at the same time.

Q.
I understand very well, Mr. Witness, that you received the first two documents of Bagosora, Ntabakuze.  What you say is, that is the handwritings, the documents and the diary that is on the 18th, and then document C was on the 25th.  What I would like to know, when did you start working on them?

A.
I think on 19th, 19th of May.

Q.
So on the 19th of May, you began working on the handwritings of Bagosora, Ntabakuze, the diary that is supposed to be from Bagosora, and the 53 pages, that is what you referred to as collection B; is that correct?

A.
Yeah, that's correct.

Q.
And when on the 25th of May you received collection C, you continued your work, taking into account this particular collection; is that so?

A.
Yes.

Q.
And you drew up your report.  We have the date of 26th May for that report; is that correct?

A.
Yes.

Q.
So we agree that you had only one day to analyse document C; are we agreed?

A.
I had two days.

Q.
You mean the 25th and the 26th of May?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Very well.  So the document was brought to you very early in the morning on the 25th, and then you completed your analysis very late in the evening of the 26th; is that what you mean?

A.
I wouldn't remember how late it was, but I know I finished on the evening on 26th.

Q.
Very well.  Could you just tell me, for purposes of information, the amount of time that you used for the -- complete for the entire analysis?

A.
Rephrase the question, please.

Q.
Can you tell me the time -- the amount of time that you devoted to the entire expert report that you presented to us today?

A.
It will be difficult to count them in terms of hours, but it would be far much easier for me to count them in terms of days.  You'd imagine between 18th and 26th I was working on this report, so that should have been sufficient time.

Q.
Very well.  You told us that you began work on 19th, and then on the 26th you actually signed the report.  Did you work on this report every day?

A.
Yes, I was working on this report every day.

Q.
Including Saturday 22 and Sunday 23rd?

A.
No.  On Saturday I worked half day.  On Sunday I did not work.

Q.
Very well.  If I understand you well, you didn't have any other reports to do during this time; you spent all your time on this particular analysis?

A.
I had other reports to do, but I'd placed them aside and work on this first.

Q.
Mr. Witness, my problem is so as to understand well how much time you devoted to this, so what I would like to know is whether you were doing something else during this time or that you devoted all your time to this report, that is, from the 18th -- from the 19th of May to the 26th of May?

A.
I have explained to you that all the during -- I mean all the working hours during this period I devoted time to work on this case work. 

Q.
At another time you told us you had an average of two reports per day, but this time you devoted six and a half days to this single report; is that correct?

A.
That is correct.

Q.
In answer to a question from Mr. White, you said this was an abnormal sample that you were receiving.  How do you explain that you take -- took so much time, whereas normally you had a quick way of treating your analysis?

A.
I don't think I've ever said that I had a -- I have a shortcut way of doing my analysis, but you imagine that this case work had a lot of documents, and that is why it took me that much long (sic).

Q.
So this was not a normal sample?

A.
I don't understand what you mean by normal.

Q.
That is in reference to an answer that you gave to Mr. White, but if you don't understand that, it is not very serious.  I will move on to something else.

MR. PRESIDENT:
But isn't the point here that he was given a normal sample, that is his basis for comparison.  That was the normality.

THE WITNESS:
Yes.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Whereas the documents that he had to look at were many.  I think that's what the witness meant. 

THE WITNESS:
Yes. 

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Very well.  So what is normal is the basis, that is what you were given as the known handwriting; is that so?

A.
That's right.

Q.
Very well.  But you want to tell us that usually you are -- you don't analyse documents that are so many; is that correct?

A.
I do, but as I think I told the Court earlier, that each case presents itself differently, and each case varies from another.  Some cases I've got very few documents, some I've got just a single document, some have so many documents, like this case here.

Q.
I understand that every case is different.  What I want to know is that for cases such as this, have you already had cases like this one?  Have you usually had to deal with cases like this one? 

A.
Yes, severally.

Q.
Very well.  And usually do you also devote six and a half days to similar cases?  Is that correct?

A.
That is true.

Q.
So with regard to this particular analysis, you did not have any special difficulties, any particular difficulties, that is, in comparison to what you are used to doing?

A.
I had no difficulty.

Q.
In your report at the end, and you discussed this with Mr. White, there were two -- ten photographs, that is comparative photographs, ten sets.  Do you remember that?

A.
Yes, I do.

Q.
And before this Court you made three series of comparisons, one concerning General Dallaire, another one on the word "grenade", and two, the word -- the letter "A" in the groups A and B.  Do you remember that?

A.
Yes, I do.

Q.
Very well.  Can you tell me why it is that in your report there are no photographs regarding these three comparisons that you made now before the Court?

A.
I think the last paragraph in my report talks of the photographs taken randomly during comparison as demonstrations of similarities.

Q.
But apart from these 13 comparisons, do you have any others that you can present to us in court?

A.
I think whatever are displayed before the Court is sufficient to demonstrate what I wanted to prove to Court.

Q.
I do not think it is up to you to determine what the Court is going to do or not.  All I'm asking you is do you have others or you don't have?

A.
I don't have others.

Q.
Very well.  So we are going to analyse the 13 elements in a short while. 

Now I would like us to carry out an inventory with you of the documents that you received concerning 

Mr. Bagosora, since my learned colleague will take care of what concerns Major Ntabakuze.

The first document that was given to you, if I have understood well, was a letter that Colonel Bagosora is supposed to have sent to General Dallaire, K0239547.  Is that correct?

A.
Yes.

Q.
I have one question, first of all.  Do you think that the photocopy is of a sufficiently high quality to enable you work on this document?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Very well.  Do you think that the photocopy reflected everything that was in the original of this document?

A.
It would be difficult for me to say because I have not seen the original.

Q.
I think so, sir.  I think we agree at least on that point. 

Do we agree that if we move from the top first, that is eighth line, you can see that the eighth line, the photocopy appears in a very unusual way?

A.
I wouldn't say it's unusual because I don't know how the original document looked, so I took it that this is how it appeared also in the original document.

Q.
So you think that in the original there's a line where you don't see the words and half of them are deleted or are invisible; is that what you are saying? 

A.
What I'm saying is that I can't speculate because I have not seen the original document.  Saying yes or no would be speculating on my part.

Q.
Fine.  Do you agree that on this copy there are areas where all the -- not all the words are complete and some letters cannot be entirely seen?

A.
I just told the Court earlier that I don't speak or read French, so it would be difficult for me to know whether the words are incomplete or not, but about the legibility of the letter, as far as I'm concerned, it is well legible for a conclusive -- for a conclusive comparison opinion. 

Q.
I am going to be very specific.  For example, if you look at the second line at the end of the word "general", do you think that the "l" there is complete?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Very well.  So if I understand well, the gaps that we have -- because just looking at the document, you can see that the line is not complete.  It is possible to analyse that, if you want.  So do you think that the original is like this, that is, we see only part of the "l"?

A.
The "l" is complete, and that is why we are able to make out that letter is "l".

Q.
There is one thing to suppose that it is "l" because you know the word "General".  That is one thing.  What I'm asking, are you telling me that this specific "l" is complete, because you see that at the top there are bits that are missing?

A.
Maybe I would be better to go back to the overhead projector to show you that the "l" is complete as compared to other l's in the same document, if you so wish.

Q.
We are going to talk about the other documents.  I am going to go to the projector later. 

So in your opinion, the "l" is complete; is that so?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Very well.  And the following "J", it's complete?

A.
Which "G"?

Q.
That is you go to the next line, it’s the first letter that is a "J".
A.
Yes.

Q.
And on the same line you have the word "votre".  That is -- to you that word is complete, letters "o" -- last but one line?

MR. CONSTANT:
With your permission, Mr. President, could I go to the overhead projector?

Can you hear me now?

MR. PRESIDENT:
We hear you.

MR. CONSTANT:
Mr. Matemanga, can you switch on for me so that I should be able -- 

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Coming back to you, Mr. Witness, we were looking at the "l", and you are saying that it is complete; is that correct?

A.
Yes.

Q.
And you say that the “J”, which is on the following line, is complete?

A.
I say it is complete, and that's why we are able to make up what they are.

Q.
And the word "votre", I am not asking you whether we are able to read it; I am just asking whether it is complete, you have all the curves, everything that we discuss, as criteria for comparison?

A.
It is complete.

Q.
Very well.  And the word "votre" which is there, is that word complete also?

A.
Which word?  Just point with a pen.

Q.
That is the word I'm showing you right there. 

A.
Yes.

Q.
And underneath, the two words that are there, are they complete?

A.
I said it is difficult for me to tell whether they are complete since I don't -- I can't read French.

Q.
What I'm asking you, Mr. Witness -- you are the one who carried out the analysis, not me.  Now you have these documents.  Are they able to make you work?  You said that you could work with the "l" and the “J” and the "votre" there, so that's what I'm asking you.

A.
This is not a -- it's not a single-line document.  If I could find that correct or not so much legible to me, I could as well find it elsewhere.  And on the other hand, you must imagine that I didn't work with the bare eyes.  I had the opportunity to work with various equipments to enhance the quality of this document.

Q.
So which other documents did you use to work?

A.
I said different equipments, not documents, equipment.

Q.
So to end on this document, do we agree that the sentence I'm indicating to you, tell me, is it complete or not?

A.
To me it is complete since I have not seen the original document.  I think I had answered that question earlier. 

Q.
So can you tell me what that letter is?

A.
I can't tell you.

Q.
Can you tell me what that letter is?

A.
I cannot tell you.

Q.
So how can you tell me it is complete if you cannot tell me what that letter is?

A.
I assume it is complete, since I have not seen the original document.  I assume it appeared like that in the original document, that's why I'm saying it is complete.  So I took it as such.

Q.
Very well.  So actually you are supposing?  So you are supposing; is that correct?

A.
Yes, I suppose this is the true version or the true copy of the original -- original document.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Mr. Constant, did you place yourself there in order to avoid watching the clock because you don't want a lunch break? 

MR. CONSTANT:
Indeed, Mr. President.  Thank you for reminding me.  So we can end here. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
So we will start again at 2:35, then.  Court is adjourned.


(Court recessed from 1306H to 1442H)
MR. PRESIDENT:
Mr. Constant.

MR. TREMBLAY:
Mr. President, during the lunch break I received the case law from the OTP.  I don't know whether you have received same.  And the decision is Bernard -- the State of New Mexico vs Bernard Montoya.  You had proposed to the Prosecution to adduce some jurisprudence.  Have you received it?  It was sent by e-mail.

MR. PRESIDENT:
We seem to have received it, yes.

MR. TREMBLAY:
Mr. President, I would like to comment on this case law which, for me, is really out of topic.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Yes, that's noted and -- but let us now -- and thank you for that remark, but I would appreciate if we now could hear this witness and concentrate on his testimony. 

What happened to Mr. Constant?  Are you there?  Where do you want to be?  Do you want to be at your usual place or do you want to move over there next to the witness? 

MR. CONSTANT:
Mr. President, for now I will stay here, but it is clear that when we will start examining the photographs, I will go back to the overhead projector, Mr. President.

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Good afternoon, Witness.

A.
Thank you very much.

Q.
We were at the first document attributed to Mr. Bagosora, and you remember that when I showed you certain letters or words which were not complete, you told me that you assumed that it was what was on the original.  Do you remember that moment?  That is when we separated this morning.

A.
Yes, my position is that I assume the original also appears as the document before me.

Q.
So you say you are a handwriting expert.  Can you explain to us what would have happened for such alterations to appear on the original, the alterations which I showed to you?  Was it because the person writing was trembling or was it because of the poor quality of the pen?  Can you explain this?

A.
It would be difficult for me to explain unless I see the original, or else I'll be just speculating.

Q.
I am not going to ask you to speculate.  I realise that you don't have anything to say to explain such alterations. 

Now, to end on this document, can you tell us the letters or group of letters that you used in your work to compare, taking into account the comparisons which you conducted in your report and what we did this morning?  Because you said those are the words which you had in all.

A.
There are specific letters that appear in the photos that I showed the Court during the morning session, but in particular, if I would remember, if you look at the word "General Dallaire", I think I singled out the letter "G" there for demonstration purposes.  And on the second last line just on top of the rubber stamp for Bagosora, there is a word there that appears with either single “T” or single “F”.  It's in French.  I'm not able to -- to get what it means.  That also appears in one of the photograph -- one of the photograph that I showed here during my demonstration.

Q.
So we therefore agree, and I think I even went further with you.  You took the "G" of the first line on "General", do we agree?  And if I remember well, at the photograph 6, you used the "D" of Dallaire; do you agree?

A.
Yes, I do.

Q.
This morning you testified orally -- it was not in your report -- you said you took the "B" of Booh-Booh, which is at the last but one line?

A.
Yes.

Q.
And lastly, you took the word "quitter" -- actually, you actually broke it down.  The word which is in the middle of the penultimate line, you took it in two separate photographs; is that correct?

A.
Yes, I did.

Q.
So from these copies, do we agree that in terms of letters, or even words, you actually brought out four letters:  Firstly, "General"; secondly, "Dallaire"; third, "Booh-Booh"; and lastly, the word which is at the penultimate line?

A.
That's what I would remember at this stage.  And you remember, Mr. President, this was a very long examination that lasted well over six days.  It would be very difficult for me to remember exactly line by line what I did at that time.  Since the general findings that are contained in my report, going over it again would be like conducting another examination at this stage.

JUDGE REDDY:
The four -- four letters that you gave as examples were not the only letters you examined, if I've understood you correctly.

THE WITNESS:
Yes, yes, yes.

JUDGE REDDY:
You examined a lot of letters.

THE WITNESS:
A lot of letters.

JUDGE REDDY:
But these four merely -- you gave them to us merely as illustrations, as examples.

THE WITNESS:
Exactly.

JUDGE REDDY:
Yes. 

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
I am coming back because I thought I understood something this morning.  This morning I asked you, whether, in addition to the ten photographs on the report and the three comparisons you conducted this morning, whether you had other elements, but you said, "No, those are the only elements which I had."  That is thought -- that is what I thought I understood this morning.

A.
Unless I misunderstood your question, but I think now everything has been clarified at this stage.

Q.
So let me rephrase.  Apart from the examples which are in your report and the three which you elaborated on orally this morning, and I was not given forewarn notice of this, do you have further examples, yes or no, so that everything be clarified?

A.
I don't have additional photographs for illustration on this document apart from what I showed the Court during the morning session.

Q.
So apart from the photographs in your report this morning, you presented a number of highlighted words; do you remember?

A.
Yes, I do.

Q.
So there are no others?

A.
Apart from what I showed the Court during the morning session, I don't have anything else to show for illustration purposes.

Q.
Thank you very much for this clarification, sir.

So if I take what we have in the photographs and what you demonstrated this morning, there are only four words which you actually pinpointed for your illustration in the document?

A.
That is true.

Q.
Thank you very much, sir.

Now, I am going to take you to the second document which you used as handwriting of Colonel Bagosora.  It is K0166330.  Are you there, sir?

A.
Yes.

Q.
So I suppose that you are going to tell me that, as far as you are concerned, the photocopy is of adequate quality?

A.
They are, as you can see for yourself, too.

Q.
Personally I think there are some alterations, but I hear you, and you say they're of good quality, so I won't go about pointing the words which I think have been altered. 

Now, could you just tell us, in view of what is in your report and in view of what you said this morning, could you indicate to this church the -- to this Court the words you used or the letters which were used from this document to compare them to the material in question?

A.
They aren't highlighted on the document that I have at the moment, and it would be difficult for me to remember off hand the particular letters I go -- I went for, but just to show that I did take some photographs from this document, if you could look at the second word, second line, there's the word "Defence," this I remember so well showing the Court.  The rest would be difficult for me to remember often, but I know I took some letters like "q" in particular, if I'm not wrong, because the letter "q" appears here several times.  But let's go to line -- line 14, second word for "question", I used that "q" in one of the photographs which I illustrated for the Court.  The rest I would not be able to remember off hand.

Q.
I'm going to help you there, sir.  At photograph 7 you use the word "Défense", which is at the second line.  That is photograph 7 of your report.  On photograph 1 of your report, you used a "g".  Honestly, I don't know where it is, if you could help us there to indicate.

A.
The "g" I took from the document marked K0239547, the first document that you've just discussed, and I think that I demonstrated for the Court.

Q.
Sir, look at photograph number 1.  You don't have the documents?  Oh, I think that you left them near the monitor, if we could pick them up. 

A.
Yes.

Q.
Take a look at photograph number 1.  The document which is on the right, according to what was written in your report, it apparently is an excerpt of K0166330; is that correct?

A.
That's correct.

Q.
Fine.  Now, I am asking you to indicate to me where the "g" is found, because in my version, there is no highlighting or underscoring.

A.
Go to the eighth line, the last word for Colonel Gatsinzi, there's a "G" there for Colonel Gatsinzi.  That's where I got it from.

Q.
Okay, fine.  So these are elements, and this morning I do not think that you used this document for your comparisons, according to the list prepared by my colleagues.  I do not have this in the material distributed to us this morning.  I do not have 330.  I stand to be corrected by the Chamber, because I believe the Bench has this document also. 

So, sir, do we agree that in this document, for your comparisons, you used three excerpts," Défense", the second line; the "G" of "Gatsinzi" on line 8; and the "q" of "question", which is on the 12th line.  Do we agree?

A.
I think "q" is on the 14th line.

Q.
I am sorry, the 14th line.  So do we agree that those are the three excerpts which you had?

A.
I don't remember exactly the number of excerpts I obtained from this page, since I was taking them randomly and they appeared randomly.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Did you say, Mr. Constant, that you didn't have 330? 

MR. CONSTANT:
I have 330.  What I said was that I did not have the part from where "G" was taken, but Mr. Nyanjwa has told me that it is the letter "G" from Gatsinzi which is at the eighth line, the last word.

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Mr. Expert, in order for there to be no misunderstanding, what I would like us to specify is that when we take the ten photographs, the three series of examples which you used this morning, all what I can see are these three extracted:  "Défense" at the second line, "Gatsinzi" at the eighth line, and the "q" of "question" on the 14th line.  I do not think that you used other excerpts of this document.  Do we agree on that?

A.
I'm not sure, since I was taking them randomly.  I wouldn't remember exactly the number of excerpts I obtained from this page.

Q.
So can you take your time to tell me the other words which you took from that page, because from all what I've heard from you, I haven't heard of any other word?

A.
Rephrase the question, please, because I didn't get you.

Q.
Sir, I am putting to you that after reading your report and hearing the additional elements you gave this morning, I do not see anything else other than the three mentions from this document which you extracted, and I have said that take your time, but if possible, tell us where the others are.  If they are in other photographs, you let us know.

A.
I think the Court has already clarified that whatever I took, I took out just for illustration purposes only.  Otherwise, I used the entire document during my analysis.  And I have the option of taking only two photographs or even 20, but I didn't -- I didn't do that because I felt the one that I had already taken was sufficient enough to demonstrate my point.

Q.
Mr. Expert, I have a problem there because you are not giving me the necessary resources to conduct a proper cross-examination.  You told me -- you confirmed a while ago that you had -- only the illustrations which were in your report are those you did this morning with the highlighted words.  So I can only cross-examine you on those.  Now, if you tell me that there are other things, we would like to know what they are so that we can validly cross-examine you.  I can only cross-examine you on the basis of what you said, sir, not on suppositions that there were other words.

A.
We can go back to the documents that are highlighted areas because they're still within the courtroom.  I can -- I could go over them and then pinpoint the random letters that I chose which -- if that's going to assist you in further cross-examination, but you remember that I said I was taking these randomly in the entire document, so I didn't restrict myself only to the highlighted words.

Q.
So, Witness, since you are making such a proposal, let's go back to the first document, A, and you said that you had four illustrations.  So tell me the others that you used. 

A.
I'm not getting the question.  What do you want me to show you from document 1, that is K0239547?  I don't exactly what you want me to show you, because I think we've gone through the random -- through the letters that I took randomly.

Q.
I thought you had proposed that you were going to indicate to me other letters which you are checking, but I realise that we have misunderstood this, so I'm going to continue, and I will come back to this by the end of this.

So before examining your illustrations, I would like us to come back to the document which for you is the test collection A.  Mr. Expert, I would like for you and I to consider a number of points.  Firstly, do we agree that 19 of the 26 pages are written?

A.
I would have to count that physically, but I believe your arithmetic should be correct, so I agree with you.

Q.
Do you mind going to page 9526?

A.
Yes, I'm there.

Q.
You will see at the end, the left-hand side, there is a word called "Karago", and there is something facing that word, there is a figure?

A.
Yes.

Q.
There's 100?

A.
Yes, I can see Karago.

Q.
And yet there is the figure 100?

A.
Yes.

Q.
So do you think it is overloaded (sic) or not?

A.
Yes, it has been overwritten.

Q.
Did you analyse whether the over-handwriting was caused by the first writer or another writer?

A.
I had no request to examine the figure 100 only, but I examined the entire page, that is, page 20 -- page 3 of this diary.

Q.
Do you mind going to page 9532?

A.
Yes.

Q.
So when you look at the right-hand side of that page, where there is "Kabiga" with a question mark apparently written on top, do you see what I'm talking about?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Don't you think that this may have been set up, when we look at what is on the left of the document and at the right of the document, as if there is some sort of a slash in the middle?

A.
I'm not getting where the slash is.  The middle of “Kabiga” or in the middle of the page? 

Q.
Sir, beneath “Kabiga” there are some words written, small characters.  Do you agree with me?

A.
There's double underlining beneath “Kabiga”.

Q.
Yes, the double lines.

A.
Yes.

Q.
On first side, the set of words which are on this line, most of them are not completed.  Did you realise that?

A.
I told this Court that I can't read French.  It was difficult for me to tell whether the words are complete or not.

Q.
So can we move to 9535? 

A.
Yes.

Q.
When you look at the questioned document, on the right-hand side, don't you think that there is some sort of a break and that also the words are not complete or that the words were not properly started and that there are some letters missing?

A.
The missing letters, I will still repeat again that I would not be able to tell since I am not able to read French, but I can see a streak, I can see a streak leaving a running gap right from top to bottom, which I -- I -- which I -- I know was caused by the -- by the photo -- photocopy drum that left that space open.

Q.
Since you say that it's the photocopying machine which caused that, on what basis are you stating such?  Is it speculation or scientific reasoning?

A.
It is scientific reason going by the mechanism of photocopier.

Q.
Very well.  Of the 19 written pages, can you tell this Court how many of these pages you used this morning as -- as your illustration?

A.
I don't remember off hand the number of pages I used.

JUDGE REDDY:
During this entire exercise, how many characters would you have -- approximately, I know you can't be exact, how many characters would you have examined in the admitted documents and the disputed documents before arriving at a conclusion?

THE WITNESS:
Your Honour, since the documents are many, this could be in terms of hundreds.

JUDGE REDDY:
Yes, I mean, this is -- this is what I'm trying to get at.

THE WITNESS:
Yes.

JUDGE REDDY:
Can you give us some idea?  You're working for six days, presumably --

THE WITNESS:
Yes.

JUDGE REDDY:
-- in this very exercise --

THE WITNESS:
Yes.

JUDGE REDDY:
-- looking at characters in the disputed writings and in the admitted writings doing comparisons before your arrived at a conclusion.

THE WITNESS:
Yes.

JUDGE REDDY:
Is that how the exercise is carried out?

THE WITNESS:
Yes.

JUDGE REDDY:
Well, could you give us some idea of how many characters would you have examined?

THE WITNESS:
Your Honour, I'm saying hundreds. 

JUDGE REDDY:
Hundreds.

THE WITNESS:
I can't be exact. 

MR. CONSTANT:
I would like to tell this Court that I am somehow disturbed because there are illustrations which are not in our possession.  The witness talks of hundreds. 

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
In any case, what I want to tell you, Witness, is that I have realised from the diary and your written report, there are two illustrations, the page ending with 9525 and the page ending with 9529.  These are photographs 5 and 7.  This morning you talked about pages 9545, 9547, and 9533 and, once again, 9547.  So from all what I can gather from your illustrations of the 19 pages, you used one extract for every six pages as illustration?

A.
That, I would not remember at this stage, because I did it when I was doing the examination.  It would be very difficult to keep that in my memory up to today.  If it so happened, and for the Court, I have no objection to that.

Q.
Let us now move to documents test collection B which comprises pages of various documents placed at random, and you made mention of it this morning.  Are you there?

A.
Yes.

Q.
According to your report, there are a total of 53 pages; is that correct?

A.
I have not carried out a physical count, but I trust your arithmetic there.

Q.
I am going to admit to you that it is you who wrote down 53 pages, so I am trusting what you wrote in your report.  If you look at your report, part four, test collection B, mention is made of 53 pages; is that correct?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Do you remember that you attributed to Bagosora the transcript of 41 pages?

A.
I would not remember the exact count, and in any case, there is no disputing them before the Court.

Q.
I would briefly like to look at some pages with you before getting to illustrations.  The page following immediately, which is K0091619, according to your report, you attribute that page to Colonel Bagosora.  Do you so confirm?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Could you tell me whether, according to you, the three lines which are below and surrounded were written by the person who wrote the part which is above that?  And I'm referring to the part which has been circled. 

A.
To my findings, yes, but the writings were not made on the same day. 

Q.
For you, sir, it's the same handwriting?

A.
To my finding, it was.

Q.
But you're saying that they were not written on the same day.  What do you rely for making such an assertion?

A.
Let me not say the same day, but at the same time, in the sense that the basis -- my basis of saying that is that two different pens were used, and the writing style is also different.  So the lower part that has been circled was a later entry.

Q.
What comparison did you make?  Because there are no comparisons in all the illustrations which we have which led you to say that what is written below is the same handwriting as the one above, because from a layman's point of view, I mean, these are apparently two different handwritings?

A.
Yes, that is why I'm saying there were -- the ages of the writing are different.  They were not made at the same time, so to a layman, it can really confuse.  I'm saying this -- the lower entry, that has been written in a more bolder pen, was made later.

Q.
Mr. Witness, the problem for me is that just looking at this, you can say that these are two different handwritings, but you're saying that it's the same handwriting but not written at the same time and not written with the same pen, but this morning you said that regardless of the time or the pen, there are common characteristics, but I did not see here the common characteristics linking what is written on the top and what is written at the bottom. 

Now, my question is, since you do not include this in the photographs or your illustrations this morning, can you give us some examples showing that these handwritings are indeed one and the same handwriting?

A.
Well, you are saying that you can't see the characteristics.  You can't see the characteristics because you are not an expert, so it's not your mistake.  And it's not possible for me to take random photographs from all the pages of the documents that I examined.  Perhaps you will have to excuse me for that, because the photographs that I took were merely for illustration and demonstration purposes only, not any other purpose apart from that.

Q.
Mr. Witness, do you see in the middle there is a figure "4"?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Below it there's a small "a"?

A.
Yes.

Q.
If we compare the small "a" with the "a" of "activités", which is in the box below at the end of the first line, don't you see that there's a significant difference?

A.
You will find a lot of significant -- significant differences as much as you will find a lot of similarities if you are to analyse this as an expert.

Q.
At the end of the same line, you will see that there is a word "qualifiés" which ends with an "e" with an accent on top of it and then an "s".  Don't you think that there is a significant difference between that and the word "activités", which also ends with "és", at the line below in the box?

A.
Anyway, we are now carrying out a forensic handwriting examination in court.  This is not so much possible since whatever we are trying to qualify is contained in my report, and it's my finding that the handwritings were made by the same hand.

Q.
My problem, sir, is that in your report, for this page, which is not really mentioned as such, when you talk about the illustrations regarding your report, I notice that you cannot point out to me similarities, and I'm pointing out to you the differences. 

A.
You will get really wrong because you want to confine yourself to a very -- a very limited number of characters, while I had the opportunity for a variety of characters to compare this handwriting with.  That's why you're getting so much misguided and getting so much wrong.

Q.
Sir, when Judge Reddy asked you about the number of characters, you said hundreds, without giving a specific number.  When I look at your illustrations, there are hardly a few dozens.  Every time I show you a difference, you say, "Yes, but I made my general analysis," and that we cannot carry out expert analysis before the Court.  But I'm telling you that on this page, between these two bits, I do not see any similarity.  I am asking you whether or not you can point out to me such similarities?

A.
You remember Judge Reddy asked me if the photographs I took were for illustration purposes only; otherwise, I examined the document in their entirety, and which of course I told him yes.  You are now asking me to compare a document against itself.  Well, I had no such request.  You remember that the handwriting you're asking me to compare I compared with some other document, and I wouldn't remember off hand right now which character I used in the other document to arrive at such opinion, but it's my opinion that this handwriting was -- was made by the same hand as the authentic document, and that is my position.

Q.
Very well.  I'd like now to move on briefly in this package K009 -- 91659. 

A.
Yes.

Q.
Do you see that at the bottom at a certain line there is -- there are two groups of sentences, one on top of another?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Could you tell me, according to you, whether these groups, the whole -- everything that is in here in this document was written by one person?

A.
To my opinion, yes.

Q.
At first sight, there is an overwriting on the word "attente".  Do you agree with me?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Could you tell us, where is this overwriting coming from?

A.
It could have been a misspelling on the writer.  He overwrote it to correct the misspelling.

Q.
Do you have any elements which allow you to tell us that it was the same person who wrote it?

A.
There's other characters that have not been overwritten, so that is why I arrived at an opinion that it was written by the same hand.

Q.
I'm talking now to you about the overwriting.  I'm not talking to you about the other things.  We'll look at that later, but right now I'm talking to you just about the overwriting.

A.
I don't know -- I don't understand whether you want to detach the last four letters or you are talking about the entire word "attente".

Q.
I'm talking to you about the overwritten part.

A.
So what is the question? 

Q.
I'm asking you whether you have elements which lead you to say that it's the same person who did the overwriting?

A.
It is the same person because you can see at the beginning of the word "attente", the first three letters have not been overwritten.  The last four letters have been overwritten, which to me, the writer was trying to correct a misspelling.  So if -- there's no possibility that it could have been written by another person altogether coming to -- to change just the last four letters and leaving out the first three letters.  What sense would it make? 

Q.
You said that it was a spelling mistake, but if the spelling mistake was there and if someone came later, I mean, you should explain the correction at that particular point as opposed to elsewhere.

A.
I didn't hear the question. 
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BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
I move on to something else, still regarding this page.  If -- starting from the bottom, you see that there is the last letter.  There is a sentence starting with Z, and then a sentence starting with P, and then a sentence which starts with L, and then a sentence with A, and after that P.  Do we agree?  Have you seen where I am pointing out to?  

A.
I have seen the letter starting with "OLPA," then there is a line.  At the end of the line there are two letters, one beginning with L and the other one with B.  Below the line there's a letter that starts with B and the last letter starts with Z.  So which one are you talking about? 

Q.
Starting with the line from the bottom, sir, you have a line which starts with Z.  Have you seen it?  There is a line starting with P; have you seen it?  Then a line starting with L.  It's a bit further to the right, but can you see it?

A.
Yes.

Q.
And then there is a line starting with A; have you seen it there at the bottom?  And then, finally, there's a line starting with P. 

A.
Yes.

Q.
The P which we have here is in the same word as in the last but one line.  Have you seen the two words I am talking about?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Now, I can tell you that even for a layman, it's obvious that these two words were not written by the same person.  They were not written by the same person.  Do you agree with me or don't you agree with me?

A.
I don't agree with you because the layman will be terribly wrong.  If you want me to show you why, could you please look at the i-dot position of the first "i", where it rests on S in the two words?  What (sic) would be the layman looking for -- and that's where he would be wrong, because we just don't look at the physical appearance of words but we look at the characters and their alignment, their i-dots and their positions.  

Get guided.  Carry on. 

Q.
Mr. Expert, the P has not been written in the same style, the S has not been written in the same style, the dots have not been placed on the same places, and the N has not been written in the same manner.  There are similarities, but there are also differences.  So on what basis do you assert that the similarities should prevail over the differences?

MR. PRESIDENT:
Mr. Constant, isn't the first word position pretty like -- or pretty similar to the second, with the exception of the P?  You are putting to this witness that there are many differences between the first word position and second.  Well, I am looking at the same two words as you are, and I understand that the witness has problems in responding to that question because, being a layman, I see a difference with the two Ps, but where are the differences you see in the rest of the word position? 

MR. CONSTANT:
Mr. President, if you look at S, the third letter, you will see that on top of the S, there is a loop which does not exist elsewhere, and you will see that in the O there, in the first version it's a round loop, whereas here there is no real circle as such.  

Mr. President, you will also see that in the manner in which T and R are subsequently written, you'll see that the dot here is practically on the O, whereas further down the dot is on I.  This is at least what we can see.  But possibly I can move on to something else, but I just wanted to point this out. 

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Mr. Witness, could you say, in your illustrations, how many pages did you use out of the 53 pages which are in this document?

A.
I don't remember offhand.  As long as you, as a layman, continue to take us through the handwriting classes -- lessons here, we are going to take as long as it takes.  Because, what you can see, I cannot see -- we can't see on the same wavelength.

Q.
I am asking you to tell the Court how many times did you use this document in order to prepare illustrations, all the illustrations which you made this morning or the illustrations which you put in your report?

A.
Mr. President, I took the illustrations randomly in the entire document without selecting one particular page for illustration, and Mr. Counsel would expect me to be taking out illustrative photographs from each and every page.  That's not possible.  And at the same time, he wants us to conduct handwriting examinations during cross-examination. This is not relevant here.  I am just here to give my opinion. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Did you get an answer to your question, Mr. Constant? 

MR. CONSTANT:
No, Mr. President, he has not answered my question.  He is not cooperating a lot. 

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Sir, in view of all the elements you gave us this morning, as I did yesterday, I found only two pages in illustration out of 53 pages concerning Mr. Bagosora, and this is the page finishing with 1668 and 1667.  What do you have to say about that?  This morning you also talked about 1661 and 1648, so this brings the number of pages to four. 

A.
I could have as well used 200 pages.  I was taking random photographs.  I was totally limited to taking from page 1 to the last page, and I think that's my answer. 

Q.
Sir, do you agree that an expert report is prepared in order to give information which actually highlights your opinion?

A.
That is true.

Q.
Do you agree that this expert report should enable the Defence to criticise it?

A.
As far as I am concerned, Mr. President, there is nothing to criticise in my report.  And if there is anything to be criticised, hopefully short.  That's why I am sitting before the Court to clarify, unless the Defence cannot comprehend my report.  I am sorry about that. 

Q.
Sir, do you agree that in an expert report you should have everything allowing the report to be understood and possibly to have it criticised?

A.
That is true, and everything is contained in my report.

Q.
Sir, but everything is not in your report, because every time I ask you a question about what comparison you use, you say that you use other comparison, that here we are not in a laboratory so we cannot go through these kinds of tests.  

But don't you think this methodology puts us in a situation whereby we are using something which is not convincing to us and therefore you are simply referring us to something else?

A.
That isn't correct, Mr. President, and that is why I spent the morning session on the overhead projector to show the areas of -- to demonstrate the similarities in the handwriting.

Q.
I do not continue the argument or the discussion with you, that is not my work, but I would like to point out to you, sir, that we are in a situation whereby you are telling us things which I cannot verify because your report does not contain this aspect.  So do you agree -- do you understand my point of view in this regard?

A.
I don't.

Q.
Obviously, we don't understand one another.  

I'd like now to move on to something else with you before examining the photographs.  Do you know a man called Kenga?

A.
Pronounce the name again?

Q.
Do you know a gentleman called Kenga?

A.
Just spell the name to be sure?

Q.
K-E-N-G-A?

A.
Yes, I do.

Q.
Is he someone who works in the same department with you, yes or no?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Do you know that the Office Of the Prosecutor --

MR. PRESIDENT:
What was the answer?  We didn't get the answer.  What was the answer, Mr. Witness?

THE WITNESS:
I said yes, Mr. President.  I know he is my colleague in the office.

MR. PRESIDENT:
All right. 

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
(Microphone not activated)
THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:
Microphone.

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Do you know that the Office of the Prosecutor gave him an analysis to do in respect of handwriting as well?  Are you aware of that?

A.
Yes, I am aware.

Q.
Do you know that the findings of the handwriting analysis that is made by Mr. Kenga partially contradicts your analysis?

A.
Yes, I'm aware.

Q.
Do you know that Mr. Kenga conceded in his report that pages K0091666, 667, 668 and 669 were -- are not in Mr. Bagosora's handwriting?

A.
Yes, I know.

Q.
How can you explain this difference?

A.
When I carried out this handwriting analysis, which I jointly did with him,  he admitted in making terrible errors in mixing the documents, and that is why that paragraph creeped (sic)  into his report.  So that's the position. 

Q.
I would like to understand, sir.  You discussed with Mr. Kenga his report or your report?

A.
We first of all discussed his report and he realised that he had mixed up the documents, and that is why that paragraph creeped.  Otherwise, when I did my examination, he went through it and he concurred with me.

Q.
When you say that Mr. Kenga made a mix-up, do you know that in Mr. Kenga's report Mr. Kenga numbered all the pages of his report, something which you did not do?

A.
I don't know, because the documents which were brought to me were already numbered, so there was no point in renumbering them again.

Q.
However, Mr. Kenga, even after doing the numbering, he took the trouble of numbering them again in his own numbering, which, as a general rule, all handwriting experts do with regard to all handwriting analysis which I have seen, with the exception of your analysis, of course.  

I am going to give you an excerpt of Mr. Kenga's report so that we can discuss it in a short while.  Mr. Matemanga -- 

A.
It is not a rule in handwriting analysis that documents have to be numbered again, because the numbering is just used for identification persons. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Mr. Witness, this Mr. Kenga, he is working in your office, is that so?
THE WITNESS:
Yes, Mr. President. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
For how long has he been working in your office?
THE WITNESS:
About nine years or so.

MR. PRESIDENT:
And when was this report of Mr. Kenga submitted, Mr. Constant?

MR. CONSTANT:
Mr. President, I sent an e-mail to all parties with the report.  Don't you have it, Mr. President?  The report is dated 25th of March 2004, Mr. President.  But in this case, I thought that all the parties had the report, even -- I am going to give you some copies of my report because I must have five or six copies.

MR. PRESIDENT:
And when was your conversation with Mr. Kenga, Mr. Witness, this conversation you just referred to?

THE WITNESS:
Mr. President, what I’ve told the Court is that when I conducted my examination, we went through -- over it again with Mr. Kenga, and he concurred with me.  When I inquired from him why there was a difference of opinion between me and him, that is when he realised that he had made a mix-up of the documents when he was doing his examination, and that's why there is this difference of opinion.  But if the Defence wishes they can call him as their witness to come and clarify that. 

MR. CONSTANT:
Can I proceed, Mr. President? 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Please do.

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Do you have the excerpts, Mr. Witness?

A.
Yes, I do.

Q.
I would like you to look at page 3, the third page.

A.
Yes.

Q.
The first thing I would want us to check is that -- is K0091666, it is what you have in your report.  Are we agreed on that?

A.
Yes.

Q.
And do we agree that those which follow are the same pages in your report?

A.
Yes, the subsequent pages I have.

Q.
Very well.  Do we agree that in your version you say that this is the handwriting of Mr. Bagosora?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Do we agree that when you look at these documents, that is, from 66 to 69, you see B25 on page 66 – that is B25?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Do we agree that on the next page you have B26?

A.
(Microphone not activated)
Q.
And when we continue, we will go right up to B28. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Do you have your microphone on, Mr. Witness?  

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
I am sorry, Mr. President.  The fact that you have these marked B25, I can show you the rest of the report; all the pages are numbered.  Does that not mean that your colleague -- that means he categorised, classified the documents before analysing them?

A.
No.

Q.
So he simply included numbers just to please himself?

A.
I explained numbers are for identification purposes only.  So that when you are talking about a particular document you have got a name to refer it to.  Which in my case, I told you the documents were brought to me when they were already numbered.  I didn't find it necessary to renumber them again, because you can see for yourself, Mr. Kenga was using as his identification numbers Bs, while I am using the courtroom's identification numbers.  That makes it far more easier to record the proceedings, rather than converting Bs into court identification numbers again.  Numbers are purely for identification purposes only, not for any other thing.

Q.
I am not asking you to justify yourself, Mr. Witness.  I want you to admit that there are B numbers which show that your colleague numbered this report.  That's all I am asking you to note -- to accept. 

A.
I have told you Bs exist.

Q.
Very well.  Please look at the second page of the expert report.

A.
Yes.

Q.
Very well.  Third paragraph: are you agreed when Mr. Kenga says that documents from B25 to B26 is not from the handwriting of AA-2?

A.
Can you repeat the question again?  Whether I agree with Mr. Kenga?  I am not getting the question.

Q.
I am asking you simply to admit that that is what is written there. 

A.
You asked me to read?

Q.
Do you agree on the fact that your colleague says that it is not the same handwriting?

A.
This report says -- and I have already explained to the Court why and how the mix-up occurred.  In any event, I cannot comment much on the report, since I am not the one who wrote it.

JUDGE REDDY:
I have not understood the connection between the mix-up and this.  Presumably you are still looking at the same documents, so can you explain this mix-up a bit?  

THE WITNESS:
Your Honour, how the mix-up occurred is this:  These documents were brought, and they were looked at by my colleague.  Then additional documents were covered – were brought, together with part of the documents that were earlier brought, and it was me who looked at the second batch of the documents that were brought.  

During that process, we realised that there were about three documents which my colleague had earlier said in his report that were not written by Bagosora.  So when we went through those documents again with him, that is when he realised that he had made a mix-up of the documents and the mistake occurred in the report that was already released to the ICTR, and this is what I have explained to the Defence.  So -- which means Mr. Kenga later concurred with me when we re-examined those documents afresh after they were brought. 

JUDGE REDDY:
So, according to you, he admitted that he had made a mistake?

THE WITNESS:
Yes. 

JUDGE REDDY:
And did he thereafter retract or rectify his report, his own report?

THE WITNESS:
Really, you don't retract because when these documents were brought, we realised this mistake, and when we consulted, we realised that the Kenga report would not be tendered so there was no need to retract it.
JUDGE REDDY:
So yours superseded his?  
THE WITNESS:
Yes. 

JUDGE REDDY:
So is your report -- does he concur with your report in its present form?

THE WITNESS:
Yes. 

MR. WHITE:
Mr. President, if I may, just to interject on a non-substantive matter.  I wonder if we could get some indication as to whether Witness DCH should remain or attend?  I think witness and victim services was interested in knowing whether he might appear today.

MR.PRESIDENT:
Any indication, Mr. Constant?  And then we will ask Mr. Tremblay afterwards whether he wishes to cross-examine this witness.

MR. CONSTANT:
Mr. President, I think I will conclude in the course of the afternoon.

MR. PRESIDENT:
No need for the witness.  
Are you cross-examining this witness, Mr. Tremblay, this expert witness?

MR. TREMBLAY:
Mr. President, I will have a few comments to make, and I will later give you my position on the cross‑examination.  But whatever the case, I can tell you that I will be extremely brief.

MR. CONSTANT:
Judge Reddy, you were asking some questions. 

JUDGE REDDY:
I finished.

MR. CONSTANT:
Excuse me, please. 

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
I would like you to re-explain to me what you have said, because I didn't quite understand.  On the 17th of March, a report was requested from Mr. Kenga.  Is it from Mr. Kenga specifically or from your department in general that this report was requested?

A.
The request was made to our department.

Q.
And if I understand you well, it was Mr. Kenga who had the duty to prepare this report?

A.
Yes, he prepared this report.

Q.
And he submitted his report on the 25th of March, at least he wrote it up then.  Are we agreed?

A.
It is dated 25th of March, but I don't know precisely when it was submitted, since I am not the one who did it.

Q.
Very well.  In the full version of the report which the Court has but which I have an excerpt to tender to them, there are pages of the report, and then, in an annex, you have the known documents and then the questioned or doubtful documents.  I can give them to you right now, if you want, so you can check this out. 

A.
I have not even understood what you are saying.  So be brief and precise so I can understand you better.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Why do you want the witness to look at this report?  Is it in connection with the question, Mr. Constant?

MR. CONSTANT:
There is a connection because today, Mr. President, we are being told that there was an error in this report.  I want to tell this witness that this report was presented in due form.  We have all the documents, the files, and they were better filed and organised than even the report of the witness today.  But possibly, I could just be satisfied with tendering it, Mr. President.  So I move on to something else. 

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Mr. Witness, you said that you received your own documents on the 18th of May; is that correct, 2004, 18 May 2004? 

A.
Between 18th of May and 25th of May.

Q.
This means that on this day Mr. Kenga had already completed his first report?

A.
The Kenga report is dated 25th of March.

Q.
So he had already prepared his report, that is, at the time that you received your documents?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Were you aware that you were being given the same documents, at least part of the same documents as those that had been given to Mr. Kenga?

A.
Yes, I was aware.

Q.
Did you not ask any questions to know why?

A.
I asked, and I was told there were additional documents which were supposed to be examined together, in addition to the ones that Kenga had earlier examined.

Q.
I understand -- I would understand perfectly well, Mr. Witness, if you had been given different documents, but whether they were the known documents or the doubtful documents, they gave you the same documents that had been given to Kenga and then others, so you were being requested to carry out the same expertise?

A.
No, in this case I am telling you that they were additional documents.  Kenga examined far much fewer documents compared to the batch that were brought to me.  I was not being asked to repeat the exercise over again.

Q.
Just a minute, Mr. Witness.  What I am saying is that the documents that were given to Kenga were the same ones; they were given to you again, even though there were other documents added, but you were given also the same documents that had already been given to Kenga. 

A.
That is what I have already told the Court.

Q.
And were you not surprised that this request was made to you again?

A.
I was not surprised because it's not the first time this is happening.

Q.
Very well.  We are going to move on to the photographs now and to the illustrations that you made for the Court.  I have a few submissions to make, and if need be --

MR. CONSTANT:
Mr. President, can I proceed with the photos?
MR. PRESIDENT:
(Microphone not activated)
MR. CONSTANT:
Thank you. 

JUDGE EGOROV:
Mr. Witness, when did you learn that your colleague had examined the same documents?

THE WITNESS:
The day they were brought again.

JUDGE EGOROV:
So that is --

THE WITNESS:
Because that was the first time I have been seeing them before me.

JUDGE EGOROV:
I see.

THE WITNESS:
Yes.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Mr. Witness, during this conference in Lyons to which you referred a couple of hours ago, what was the participation during that conference, from one country or many countries?

THE WITNESS:
It was an Interpol-organised conference of -- all countries were invited to participate, except a few did not turn up for lack of funds, since missions were self-funding.

MR. PRESIDENT:
And did you then practise on the basis of samples?

THE WITNESS:
Yes.

MR. PRESIDENT:
And those samples, were they from a particular language?

THE WITNESS:
No.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Were they from more than one language?

THE WITNESS:
Yes.  We had the opportunity to do Hebrew, Urdu, Hindi, and the like, which are non-English alphabets.

JUDGE REDDY:
So are you saying -- going back to this mistake, which I must say is still engaging my mind -- are you saying that you could have two experts arriving at different conclusions, depending on the quantity of writings they examined?

THE WITNESS:
Not really, Your Honour.  This occurred as a result of the mix-up of the documents. 

JUDGE REDDY:
What is this -- I haven't quite -- when you were asked to explain the mix-up, you merely said that you got more documents than your colleague did.  I have not understood what else is different.

THE WITNESS:
No, when the request was made, some were classified as authenticated documents and some were classified -- Kenga classified some as authenticated documents and some he classified as the test collection documents because he -- I think he didn't get it so much straight on the request sheet.

JUDGE REDDY:
So he incorrectly classified them, did he?

THE WITNESS:
Yes.

JUDGE REDDY:
So he would have had some authenticated documents as disputed documents?  Is that what you are saying, or vice versa?
THE WITNESS:
Kenga did them vice versa, a portion of them.  Because I, myself, I did not see the request sheet, but this is the explanation he gave to me.

MR. PRESIDENT:
So this document, B25 to B28, did the -- the situation is either that Kenga looked at those documents, looked at the handwriting and said that this is not Bagosora.

THE WITNESS:
That is what his report says, but when we went over them again together with him, he realised the mistake he did and he concurred with me, but the mistake -- I think the problems occurred when he did not retract his report.

MR. PRESIDENT:
See, what I think we are trying to find out is whether he reconsidered his position, whether in other words, he changed his position on the basis of the same document, so that Mr. Kenga first, on the basis of a particular document, said, "This is Bagosora" – “This is not Bagosora”, and then afterwards said it is, or whether it was --
THE WITNESS:
Yes, he changed his position to say that they belonged to Bagosora when we now did a joint examination.

MR. CONSTANT:
Thank you, Mr. President.

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
I can possibly come back there, but we will go to the photographs now.  

Do we agree this is your first photograph, Mr. Witness?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Do we agree that on the left you have an extract of the page, K0091658 -- 668?

A.
(Microphone not activated)
Q.
Do we agree that even though you say there was an error, that Mr. Kenga stated that this was not the handwriting of Mr. Bagosora?

A.
What was the question?

Q.
Do you agree that in this document which you analyse there is one of the documents that Mr. Kenga said in his report of 25 March 2004, that this was not the handwriting of Mr. Bagosora?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Do we agree that on the right there is an excerpt?

MR. PRESIDENT:
What was the witness's answer to that question?  You see, sometimes it is difficult to hear him because some other microphone is on.  Did you answer yes or no to the last question?

THE WITNESS:
I answered yes, because he asked me if the document K0091668 is part of the documents that Kenga said wasn't written by Bagosora, to which I answered yes.

MR. PRESIDENT:
But the documents -- the documents not  written by Bagosora was B25 to B28. 

THE WITNESS:
Mr. President, K0091668 falls in the group that Kenga categorised not to have been written by Bagosora, and that is marked B27.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Ah, here are two numbers there.  You have the K number and the L number.  Yes, I see.  You are right.  That's the confusion. 

THE WITNESS:
Yes. 

MR. CONSTANT:
Yes, Mr. President, to be specific, Mr. Kenga had renumbered these pages, which I am surprised that this witness did not do, but that's not the important thing. 

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Mr. Witness, to the right, you have K0166330, that is the second document of Mr. Bagosora.
A.
Yes.

Q.
In your explanations you say that there is a similarity here.  Is that not what you said?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Does the fact that you have this link with the next letter connection, which does not exist in the document to the left, is that not proof of an important difference?

A.
No.

Q.
Very well.  The fact that there you have a longer and more distinct down stroke than what is on the other document, don't you think that is an important difference also?

A.
That is not -- that is not an unimportant difference.  If you look at the letter G on your left, you can see there is a gap between that letter G to the next character.  This is what we call a natural pen lift which can occur to everybody, and that does not necessarily mean that the other -- the G on the left is the same as the G on the right.

Q.
I think that maybe the G on the left is the same as the one on the right, but I want you to note that when you look at the group of words here, the way in which the G was linked to the other words, there is a -- an important difference, and the difference that you see there is, the distance is not the same as the other one that you can see on the right; you can see that with the naked eye.

A.
 I notice the natural pen lift that is bothering you, but we can as well pick the Gs without pen lifts on the same document that is appearing elsewhere.

Q.
We are going to look at all the examples and all the illustrations, but we agree that there is a difference that is even double, or practically double the gap between the various distances, and then there is the continuous stroke on the right G, which is not on the left.  Do we agree on that?

A.
As I told the Court earlier, handwriting is not a typewriter.  These variations have got nothing absolutely to do with the difference in handwriting.

Q.
Mr. Witness, what I want to understand is, you are looking only at the similarities and you don't pay attention to the differences.  Is that what you are telling us here?

A.
If you look at my report on page 4, I first of all paid attention to the differences before arriving at my opinion. 

Q.
A short while ago, you said you didn't pay attention to the differences, but what I want to know is that do those differences simply not indicate that these are two different persons writing?  Isn't that obvious?

A.
These are not two different persons writing, these are natural variations, and variations in themselves do not constitute a difference.

Q.
So what you refer to as variations, you are of the opinion that they are not significant, not because there are similarities also; is that correct?

A.
Variations have got no significance in the sense that they themselves do not remove the individual characteristics in the handwritings.

Q.
So, if I understand properly, what for you is common is the way the G is formed; is that correct?

A.
I looked at the ink concentration on the formation of letter G, the general resemblance, the curve, the pen fluency, the inner curve -- curvature that is giving the up in the lower stroke to form letter G.  All these I took into consideration, and the position of G, how it lies on the baseline. 

Q.
On the position of -- you said that that was not the case.  What I wanted to put to you is the fact that you have a small circle there and you do not have another small circle there, that is it is not clear; does that not have an importance for you?

A.
It had importance when I was eliminating the differences, but in the final conclusion I arrived at the opinion that the two Gs had common ownership. 

Q.
Could you go back to 016 (unintelligible) to tell me exactly where you found that J -- the G, sorry -- just for us to verify that it is the G of Gasinzi, as you said a while ago?

A.
This is on the eighth line, the last word, for Colonel Gasinzi. 

Q.
Okay.  So that is it then.  So the J (sic) you have at 668, can you tell us where you find it?

A.
If you look at number 2, the word beginning with Lieutenant Hagume, plus Corporal Kugwimana, there is handwriting immediately below that after the crossed handwritings, there is a name, Gwaneza, that’s where I got the G. 

Q.
So we agree that that is the G that you chose?

A.
(Microphone not activated)
Q.
Very well.  Look at what comes on top, Lieutenant Haguma, the G there?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Why did you not take that one, for instance?

A.
I told you I was picking these characters at random.  I had no reason even to pick on the one I chose.

Q.
But that is not a random choice, because if you look at that G and compare it with the one of the authenticated document that is an even more glaring difference than one compared with the comparison you made.  So actually, that was a choice.  You decided to choose Gs which are closer to what you were asked to crosscheck. 

A.
Maybe that is what you think, but my position is that I was picking them randomly and from any page, without selecting which particular page.

Q.
Now, let's go to photograph 2.  What is to the left is the same as what we saw while ago; is that correct.  
A.
Yes.
Q.
And what is to our right is an excerpt of the other document concerning Mr. Bagosora?

A.
Yes.

Q.
A while ago you explained to us that there was this element which was very important in the curve.  That is what you explained to us a while ago, that you have it in the questioned document even if it is authenticated.  Now, do we agree that there is nothing there on top?

A.
I don't get the question.  Something there on top of?  You have to repeat the question, please.

Q.
During the last question I put to you, you explained to us that this part was of interest to you because it made it possible for you to make a link with this other one.  Now I am telling you that in this comparison, the G to the right has no such curve and that there is another loop here, it is the same, but here there is no other loop which is done the same way.  You don't find it here to your right, so I assume that such variations for you are not significant?

A.
This proves further that I took these photographs randomly without choosing the one to go for.  In a matter of anything, if you look at the G, I am talking about the document K0239547, there’s the G in General Dallaire, and the G on photograph 2 I took from the G on the word "General" below the name General Dallaire without looking at the concentration of the ink on the upper portion on which you were asking.  In any case, if I wanted to go for that, I would have gone for the G on General Dallaire.  But I explained that these photos, I took them randomly. 

Q.
My problem -- well, I think that perhaps you were choosing them at random.  

Well, no problem, but what I am saying is that two Gs are not in any way similar; this G and the other Gs.  And in any case, in the final analysis, you decided to take what was closer, but when you look at it on top, there is no such loop and there is no downward slope, and the other way, you don't have this loop as you find on the one on the left.
A.
You are having a lot of difficulties because you are doing the examination with your bare eyes, and I told this Court that I had the benefit to use various equipment to do this examination.  And in any case, it is a layman's way of doing the examination because you are concentrating on the general resemblance ignoring other factors. 

Q.
But in any case, I was expecting that you would give me other factors to make me believe that it is the same letter.  

But in any case, let's move to photograph 3.  Do we agree that you have K30091667 to your left?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Do we agree that it was also one of the documents which Mr. Kenga said was not in the handwriting of Colonel Bagosora?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Do we agree that this other one is an excerpt of the second document?  So to say the letter Bagosora is purported to have sent to his counsel, that is what you refer to as A-2, I believe?

A.
Let's be clear, are you talking about K0239547?
Q.
No, I am simply noting that this is K0166330?

A.
Uh-huh.  Yes.

Q.
And you think that by juxtaposing this to -- you realise that there is a similarity between the two?

A.
Yes.

Q.
So the fact that there is a loop there and you don't find it to your right, and that the Q goes down the way to your left which is different from your right, for you, it's no problem?

A.
In my analysis, it is my opinion that they are made by the same hand.

Q.
Let's move to picture 4.

A.
Yes.

Q.
We have document that ends with 67, so do you, for the record, acknowledge that that is one of the documents which Mr. Kenga said was not written by Colonel Bagosora?

A.
Yes, that's what the report says.
(Pages 72 to 87 by Judith Baverstock)
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BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Very well.  And to your right there is a document which is an excerpt of the letter written by 

Colonel  Bagosora to Mr. Dallaire.  Do we agree?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Firstly, I would like you to go to the page that ends with 667 in order to get for me the excerpt of that document.  I'm sorry for wasting so much time, but usually, accepting one point, you did not really circle all your places of comparison.
A.
Look at No. 5.  From top -- those items numbered 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, there is the word -- I can't read it, I'm sorry, but I hope you’re able to help you to locate it now. 

Q.
Thank you.  I have located it.  Can you explain to me why you would want to compare letters which are not the same?

A.
Because of the striking similarity in the pen movement between them. 

Q.
Because here we have Fs from the French word différent, and to your right there are the Ts which come from the French word quitter.  Were you aware of that?

A.
I wasn't aware about that.  I have said that I was attracted so much by the pen fluency and the pen movement and the slant in the formation of the -- of both the letters in both the documents. 

Q.
So before we go to what you refer to as a slant and pen movement, why did you, for instance, not have the opportunity, above all, to make a comparison between an F from the questioned document and an F from the authenticated document?

A.
Because I found this to be more befitting for my purpose. 

Q.
Very well.  Can you explain this to me, because I realise that this goes down and goes up.  There is a series of things there, and to your right we have Ts with crosses.  I don't know what is the link.  What do those two things have in common?
A.
If you look at the formation of the first -- I'm talking about the document on the right-hand side that is circled in red ink.  If you look at the formation of the first character -- I don't know because I can't read French --

Q.
The formation of the first characters, is it on top or at the bottom?

A.
I'm talking about the document -- the image on the right that has been circled in red ink, the one I was explaining.  Okay.  You look at the upward curve which is going to form the first T, or whatever it is, bring it down, take it up, get the crossbar going to combine it with the letter E.  You get it?  I have found the same, same movement replicated --
Q.
Are you referring to that T?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Okay.

A.
I have found the same, same movement on the crossbar going to combine with the letter E replicated on the image on the left; that is K0091667.

Q.
Wait a minute, Mr. Expert.  I have a question for you: I would like to know, according to you -- since you have talked about movement, we'll go to the link.  So, according to you, is the T -- is the T written from the top to bottom, or from bottom up?

A.
On the initial start from somewhere halfway, up first, then down.  It is unusual because usually most people begin their Ts either from down, or take at the top down.  But for this you’d find that it somehow starts from the middle and terminates at the middle, and this is what really attracted me here. 

Q.
So you want to say that it goes up, comes down, then goes back up.  That is what struck you?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Very well.  And you want to say that it is the same thing that you find to your left?

A.
I said the same kind -- the same pen movement that replicates itself on the image on the left; that is K0091667.

Q.
So who told you that there was no cross there and that it was not done to your right?  Where do you get this information from?  Where do you base your argument on?

A.
Rephrase the question because I have not understood anything. 

Q.
You told us that what struck you after the link with the E is that there you go up, you come down, and you go up again.  That is what I understood from what you told me.

A.
(Microphones overlapping)… that it is the pen movement, the pen movement and the pen fluency with the crossbar combining with the letter E that I found too similar, and the same repeats itself on the image on the left. 

Q.
We'll go to the link with the letter E.  What you're talking of is the pen movement.  Who tells you that there you go up, you come down and go to the middle, because I would like to know what makes it possible for you to suppose that this is not what you did; that is, you do not have two lines and a cross in the middle?

A.
I was not told, but this is what I observed during my examination. 

Q.
So do you agree that here there is an interrupted link and that to you are left there is no interrupted ink?

A.
That has no meaning in the general examination.

Q.
I asked you this question because you said it was the same sign.  We'll move to the fifth image.  There also, sir, you make a comparison between Fs and Ts.  Do we agree?

A.
Yes.

Q.
So I think that it is the same reasoning as the one you gave us a while ago?

A.
Right.

Q.
Very well.  And there, also -- there is a link with that letter, which is the same as the E down there; is that what you want to say?

A.
There's no E on the image at the top, but I was looking at the letter combinations of the Ts and Fs, and the way the crossbar is placed.

Q.
So, for you, what is that letter?

A.
I don't know what it is because I can't read French.

Q.
So you analyse a character and you cannot tell us what is that letter?

A.
What I've told this Court is that the double letter combinations in what the image on the top and the image circled in red ink, how they for, how the pen moves, the slant, how the cross bar is placed. 

Q.
A while ago you said that you analysed a set, a whole.  Now, if I take only this one and this other one -- and we saw this a while ago -- you do not have any element to tell me where it starts and where it ends.  This is what we saw a while ago.  You told me that you conducted an overall analysis, but you cannot tell us the letters that come before and after.

A.
I'm sorry that I'm limited in my ability to read French.  And, in any case, the document marked K0239 ‑‑ 9525 is before you.  If you want to read what it means, save the Court's time, read it and move on, because I can't read it, no matter how many times you ask me.  It is in French.

Q.
Now, let us move on to six.  There you are comparing Ds.  Do you agree?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Fine.  Do we agree that to your left we have a document once again, which Mr. Kenga said was not of Mr. Bagosora's handwriting?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Okay.  So what do you compare there?  Do you compare the Ds or what?  Can you tell us what you compared?

A.
I compared how the Ds are formed, written, the curves, the loops, the upward stroke joining letter “I”, and the gap on top of letter D, and how the gap closes in the middle of D to form letter “I”.  You can see this is well repeated on the image on the right that is circled in red ink.  And to me, this is particularly similar, and I wouldn’t expect – I didn’t expect you to contest even this, if you say a layman can see. 

Q.
Sir, I realise that there is a gap in the photocopies.  I mean, nothing prevents us to making the D this way because that is what is often done.  As I understood that your argument is that it is this way and this way.  That is what you are explaining, but now I am making you to understand that there is a gap there and, therefore, it is no longer a link.  There is no continuity; there is a gap.  Otherwise, the continuity is merely in your imagination.
A.
Don't get misled by the gap that is visible there.  And I will repeat again that I had the other opportunity to zoom these characters to greater wavelengths to see the minute details that couldn't be visible with the bare eyes here, and that's why I arrived at such opinion. 

Q.
You worry me a lot, sir.  A while ago you said that you realised that there were hundreds of similarities, but you were able to give me not more than seven, and now you say you're able to see that there was a link using the microphone (sic) between those points.  You tell me, therefore, that on the photocopies which you obtained, you were able to see points on the microphone (sic), whereas, now we have gaps there.  Is that what you are stating, sir?

MR. SKOLNIK:
We're getting the word "microphone" in the English translation.  I presume that Mr. Constant is talking about "microscope".

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:
It was "microscope".  The interpreter apologises for the slip of the tongue. 

THE WITNESS:
I'm not telling the Court that the image on the right that is circled in red ink, if subjected to a wide zoom, would generate inks in the gap, but what I'm telling the Court, that both the images were subjected to great zoom wavelength under microscope, they display a lot of similarities that are now limited to our bare eyes as you see them here, and that is why I arrived at such opinion. 
BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
And it did not occur to you that it would be adequate to have a photograph of your microscope enlargement in order for us to see such similarities.

A.
I'm sorry, the printer I have is limited, so this is the best I could get from my printer but, generally, this is for demonstration only; it is not for examination purpose. 

Q.
Last question on photograph 6: do we agree that your microscope was not able to have the gap disappear?

A.
I don't get the question. 

Q.
Let's pass on that.  Let's move to picture 7, sir.  You compared two words, défense.
A.
Yes.

Q.
Do we agree, sir, that what is on the side is an excerpt from the diary?

A.
Let's identify them by numbers, please. 

Q.
K0166330.
A.
Yes.

Q.
But this is not from the diary.  The excerpt from the diary is at the bottom; that is K0259529.  Is that the excerpt from the diary, if I understand you well?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Do we agree that out of the seven photographs which we have just seen, this is the second time that you're using the diary?

A.
I don't remember.

Q.
In order to avoid any misunderstanding between us, here is where you used the diary when you compared the Fs and the Ts.

A.
Yes.

Q.
Okay.  And in all the other cases you used documents which reflect writings.  If we can check here, we have 668, which was placed under doubt by Mr. Kenga in regard to the handwriting itself.  Do we agree with this?

A.
Yes.

Q.
For photograph No. 2, it is the same thing?

A.
Yes.

Q.
For picture No. 3, it ends with 67, and this is an excerpt from the 53 pages?
A.
Yes.

Q.
Here it ends with 1667, still an excerpt from the 53 pages?
A.
Yes.

Q.
Here this is an excerpt from the diary, 0239525, but here you do not make a comparison of letters but, rather, a comparison between two groups of different letters.
A.
Yes.

Q.
And here you still have 67, which is being challenged by Mr. Kenga?
A.
It is not being challenged.  Let’s put the record straight. 

Q.
And the 25th of March document contests that this document could be the handwriting of Mr. Bagosora.  Do we agree that, in any case, it is from an excerpt from the 53 pages, sir?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Okay.  So we were at picture 7.  This is an excerpt from the diary, and we agree that out of the seven pictures which -- you made two comparisons in respect of the diary.  Do we agree on that?

A.
Yes.

Q.
If we agree, then, you made three comparisons concerning page 667, which is from the excerpt of the 53 pages; and then two comparisons with 668, again, an excerpt form the 53 pages; and two comparisons in respect of the diary.  Do we agree on this?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Okay.  In order to get to this défense and défense, do we agree that these two Ds in defences are different; they are not the same, the D in défense?

A.
They are the same.  They are by the same hand. 

Q.
The loop which is here but which is not here is an insignificant variation, according to you?

A.
That is true.  That is quite insignificant.

Q.
Very well.  The fact that on E there is an accent here, but there is no accent here, for you is not a significant variation, as far as you're concerned?

A.
I don't -- I'm not getting the question.  Please rephrase.

Q.
I'm showing you, here there is an accent on top of the E.

A.
Yes.

Q.
And I'm telling you that here below on this défense there is no accent.
A.
Yes.

Q.
So is this not a significant difference?

A.
No, it's quite insignificant.

Q.
Okay.  The fact that here in F there's a full loop which is absent from the second défense is not significant, according to you, as a difference; right?

A.
That is not significant.  We look at the general formation of the letter F, the pen pressure, the ink distribution, the curves, the crossbar, and the gap between the crossbar where letter E forms.  Carry on. 

Q.
To conclude with the last -- on the last photo, do we agree that the gap between the E and the F is bigger than the gap between the E and the F below here?  Do we agree on that?

A.
That is insignificant.  I told you earlier that handwriting is not a typewriter.  Such variations are expected in any handwriting, including yours. 

Q.
The fact that here -- we clearly see that here you have a stem on this N, but this stem is absent on the other N, this upright here.  As far as you're concerned, this difference is not significant?

A.
There is no difference.  If you can see the difference, then it is because of your limited knowledge in handwriting examination. 

MR. CONSTANT:
Mr. President, I'll go back to my normal place. 

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Sir, I'd like to conclude with regard to the comparisons -- some comparisons you made this morning.  You compared the words "General Dallaire" in Bagosora's letter to Dallaire, and you also compared such with what was in the diary.  Do you remember having done so?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Very well.  We're not going to -- we're not going to enter into details because all the differences I'm going to show you, you'll -- with regard to that, you are going to say that these differences are not insignificant (sic), but what I would like to look at with you, do you agree that with regard to your second comparison between the number ending with 59 and 43 is -- 33, is actually a comparison between two documents where you were asked to look for who wrote that?  You did not make comparison in respect of these two pages with the original document.

A.
Can you repeat the number of the documents again? 

Q.
You compared 0091659, which is an excerpt from the 53-page packet, and 0239533, which is an excerpt from the diary. 

A.
Yes.

Q.
Do you remember?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Do we agree that you did not compare these elements with one of the two documents where you had Colonel Bagosora's handwriting?

A.
I would like to get you clearly.  Please identify the documents by their numbers so that I’m able to know which document you're talking about.  Can we start over again? 

Q.
K0091659.  Have you seen it?  It is a handwritten piece.  Have you seen it?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Here, you have an excerpt with the word "grenade".
A.
Yes.

Q.
And then you went to the diary.
A.
Yes.

Q.
9533, do you remember that, sir?

A.
Yes, I do.

Q.
And you compared the "grenade" which is in the diary with the "grenade" which is in the handwritten passage.  Do we agree on that?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Okay.  Now, what I'm telling you is that you did not make a comparison between these two words with one of the documents, either Bagosora's letter to Dallaire or Bagosora's letter to his lawyer.  You did not make such a comparison.  You compared two things which, before your expertise, we did not know who the author of the said document was?

A.
I compared all those documents in totality, except K0239533 and K0091659.  I used them in court for demonstration. 

Q.
What I'm telling you, sir, is that you had known documents and you had documents which are unknown.  You compared documents which with -- with unknown documents instead of making comparisons with documents which are known and which we are sure about.  This is what I'm telling you, sir.  Do we agree on that point?

A.
And I'm telling you that my position is that I compared those documents, but the word "grenade" on 59 and the word "grenade" on 33, I used them for illustration purposes only in court. 

Q.
I'm sorry, sir.  What you illustrated is that, possibly, there is a similarity between the diary and the 53 pages.  This is what you did, right?

A.
Yes, yes.

Q.
Until proven otherwise, you're here in order to compare the diary, on the one hand, with the handwriting, on the other hand, as well as with known handwriting.  We're not asking you to make comparisons of any document with unknown documents.  This is what I'm telling you.
A.
And this is why I am saying you're getting me all wrong.  The documents marked K0239547 and K0166330, which are the known handwritings of Bagosora, I compared them.  I would wish you go through my report and see what is included and what is excluded because this is what is giving you a lot of confusion. 

Q.
There's no confusion, sir.  What I'm telling you is that in the 53 pages, you looked for one word, and from the 26 pages you looked for one word, and you compared them, but we did not know -- I mean, unless what -- your report says otherwise, we do not know who wrote the 53 pages and the 26 pages.  You did not compare these words with the original documents which you know the handwriting.  This is my position.  

Sir, you also made a comparison --

MR. WHITE:
Objection.  If the witness could be permitted to answer that last suggestion. 

THE WITNESS:
Mr. President, here I had two bunches of documents to be compared.  These were authenticated documents and the test collection documents that were disputed.  And in my report, I specifically state that the comparison was between the authenticated document and the test collection document, but what I demonstrate to Court are in the test collection documents, but not against the authenticated documents.  And the position is as in my report, that all those documents are compared in totality. 

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Very well.  What I'm telling you, that I do not understand the point of making comparisons with contested documents.  And then with regard to groups A and B, you compared 66191 – I mean, 91661.  Do we agree on that?

A.
Yes, I compared.  I do confirm that.

Q.
With 91648, do we agree on that?

A.
Yes.

Q.
With 91648, the difference -- or, rather, the similarity between the word "Sergent” or “Sergeant”.

A.
(Unintelligible)
Q.
Very well.  Here, too, do we agree that you compared doubtful documents and not authenticated documents?

A.
Mr. President, nothing limits me from comparing these documents since I already qualified them as ‑‑ to have been written by Bagosora.  I'm still free to use them to compare the documents. 

Q.
You see, your reasoning poses a problem to me, sir.  You’re asked to compare authenticated documents with doubtful documents.  We have very few examples of your comparisons between authenticated documents and doubtful documents, and you're also making comparisons between doubtful documents under the pretext that you've already concluded that the handwriting was, indeed, Bagosora’s.  I do have problems following your reasoning.
A.
There is no pretext, Mr. President. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Are we there? 

MR. CONSTANT:
Mr. President, I just want to wind up, to sum up, and I'll be through. 

BY MR. CONSTANT:

Q.
Sir, if I am to rely on what you told the Chamber -- or, rather, wrote for the Chamber, I'm obliged to note that, with regard to the diary, the 26 pages, with regard to them, you made only two comparisons which you illustrated to this Court using photographs 6 and 7.

A.
That is not correct, Mr. President.  I did not only make two comparisons.  I made other comparisons, but I took two pages randomly for illustration.  That is the position. 

Q.
I'm saying that, in any case, you submitted only two comparisons in your report.  Do you contest that in your report there are only two comparisons?

A.
I'm not getting what you mean by two comparisons.  Are you talking about the illustration photographs, or what? 

Q.
If you wish.  Do we agree that in your report, there are only two photographs which illustrate your work in relation to the diary?

A.
Yes, there are only two photographs.

Q.
Do you agree that with regard to what you've told us today, you mentioned the diary only twice ‑‑ making a comparison with a known handwriting?
A.
I did not get the question where I mentioned the diary only twice.  Could you please point it out in my report, the section? 

Q.
In your report there are only two illustrations.  We've already seen this.  Now, I am talking about what you said this morning.  You talked twice about the diary, K0239545, and the page ending with 44.  If you want me to be complete, the first time you made a comparison between Dallaire and -- the D in Dallaire, and the second time, the comparison between B in “Booh-Booh” and B in “bourgmestre”.

A.
Yes.

Q.
So I'm telling that you gave the Court only four elements in order to illustrate your comments?

A.
Yes, that was even more than sufficient. 

Q.
You consider that out of 19 handwritten pages, only four illustrations are adequate?
A.
Yes.

Q.
Covering four letters -- or, rather, I'm sorry, I shouldn't say four letters; rather, on three letters only.

A.
They were sufficient enough since they were just to support my report, what I illustrated in my report. 

Q.
Apart from the three letters, you compared Fs and Ts, sir; is that correct?

A.
Yes.

Q.
And, finally, concerning the 53 handwritten pages --

A.
Yes.

Q.
-- we have, for page 668, we have two comparisons.
A.
Yes.

Q.
For 667, we have three comparisons.

A.
Yes.

Q.
And after that we have nothing.

A.
Because these were random printouts, and those were sufficient enough to demonstrate what I wanted to demonstrate to the Court. 

Q.
So, sir, you think that as an expert you can give three comparisons in relation to the agenda and then five pages -- you make two comparisons over two pages out of 53 pages, so you think that as an expert, you are convincing by doing that?

A.
I'm convinced I'm not -- I didn't come here to make people experts in this Court, but I came here as an expert to explain what layman could not understand. 

Q.
Isn't your reasoning -- doesn't your reasoning consist of first having a conclusion and then find something to justify your conclusion, instead of looking at comparative aspects and making comparisons between those elements so that you finally submit such comparisons to the Trial Chamber?

A.
Whatever is taken into consideration is summarised in my report.  And if you want to make a reference, I think you’ve got a copy of my report. 

Q.
Not everything is in your report because every time I ask you a question, you say that you have other elements and that you decided to make a selection.  But I have to tell you that not everything is included in your report.  

So let me put my question to you again: didn't you decide that it was Bagosora who wrote this and you took examples to illustrate your assertion rather than using, as a point of your departure, the desire to find out whether, actually, Bagosora wrote this?

A.
I did not decide that Mr. Bagosora who wrote it; it was my finding, scientific finding as to who was the author of this document.

MR. CONSTANT:
Mr. President, I've completed my cross-examination.  It's obvious that the witness does not want to tell us everything.  

Thank you.

MS. MULVANEY:
Objection, Your Honour.  The commentary is not necessary, and it's very disrespectful to the witness.  

MR. PRESIDENT:
Yes.  As I've said before, we avoid the comments in the courtroom.  

So we will then hear the cross‑examination of Mr. Tremblay tomorrow morning, if any.  

Mr. Tremblay.
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MR. TREMBLAY:
I would like to know whether the Prosecutor intends to carry out a re-examination, because it will be unfair to the witness to call him only for a few minutes tomorrow morning, and I'm sure the Court will not be too happy with me. 

MR. WHITE:
The Prosecution does have two or three questions relating to documents that were put to this witness by Mr. Constant.  I think it would probably be two or three minutes in its own length.

MR. PRESIDENT:
Okay.  So then we don't have to worry about that, Mr. Tremblay. 

Was there anything you wanted to tender, Mr. Constant? 

MR. CONSTANT:
The full expert report by Mr. Kenga.  Mr. President, this means the letter of the Prosecutor of the 17th of March, 2004, the two-page report, and all the annexes, namely, all the photographs, the interview documents, and all contested documents from B-1 to B-31.  I'd like to highlight this so that we are quite clear on it. 

MR. SKOLNIK:
Mr. President, there was an interpretation problem because Mr. Constant was speaking about question documents and it was translated as interview documents. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Thank you. 

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:
Thank you, Mr. President, for the correction.

MR. PRESIDENT:
So we will probably do this tomorrow, but we would like to have the entire report in front of us before we make the decision, so we will revert to this tomorrow.  Thank you very much, Mr. Constant. 

MR. CONSTANT:
So what do I do now?  Should I give this batch to Mr. Matemanga? 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Please do. 

MR. WHITE:
Mr. President, while that is happening, I ought to bring to the Court's attention a very brief update with respect to some information that's been provided by WVSS.  This relates to Witnesses Beaudoin, who would be the next witness following DF as we're anticipating him for Wednesday morning; Witness DBO we were anticipating for next week; and Witness DF, who we were anticipating for the week of July the 5th.
WVSS informs us today that they're having significant difficulties with the attendance of all of these witnesses, in particular, Witness Beaudoin who was expected to arrive this evening, and I understand he is not on the plane, he will not arrive this evening.  So we don't see any way that he's going to be available for a Wednesday morning presentation to the Court. 

The result of that is that after Witness Nyanjwa, we will continue with Witness DCH, and then we have no additional witnesses for the remainder of this week as far as we know. 

MR. PRESIDENT:
Thank you very much. 

There is a pending issue that we should address at the end of the day, and that relates to the scheduling of the video conference of Witness BY.  We will do that now.

The Prosecution has scheduled Witness BY to commence his testimony before the Chamber on Monday, the 28th June 2004, by videolink, as authorised in a previous Chamber decision.  On 17th of June, 2004, the Bagosora Defence filed a motion requesting the postponement of the testimony to at least 18th July 2004, being 45 days after the disclosure of the entirety of the witness's unredacted statements.  The other Defence teams joined the motion during oral submissions by the parties.  The Prosecution opposes the motion.

The Defence argues that the Prosecution has not respected the Chamber's decision of 15th March 2004, requiring the Prosecution to disclose the identity and unredacted witness statements of Witness BY no later than 45 days before his testimony.  The Bagosora Defence submits that it received Witness BY's statements in unredacted form on 31st May 2004, and that it received a new statement of the witness taken between February and May 2004 by Prosecution investigators on 3rd June 2004.  The Prosecution opposed the motion, arguing that it had respected its disclosure obligations.

The Chamber recalls that by its decision of 3rd October 2003, it authorised special protective measures for two Prosecution witnesses, including Witness BY.  That decision ordered that the identity and statements of Witness BY should be disclosed no later than 30 days before testifying.  The witness was thereby excepted from the witness protection decision of 18th July 2003, which required disclosure of the identities and complete statements of Prosecution witnesses by 28 July 2003. 

The decision also contained other specific protection measures which are unusual for witnesses, and here I refer to paragraphs 4, 5, 6, and 7 of the order.  The reason for this decision was that the Chamber accepted the Prosecution's submissions that the witnesses are in a precarious position or are particularly likely to be threatened in comparison with other witnesses.

On 15th March 2004, the Chamber ordered the Prosecution to disclose the identity and unredacted witness statements of Witness BY no later than 45 days before his testimony.  The decision to extend the time limit was made following a request from the Defence which pointed out that on 11 December 2003, the Defence received more than a thousand pages of additional statements of the witness.  The Chamber found that the disclosure of more than a thousand pages of witness statements raised doubts as to whether 30 days' notice gives the Defence adequate notice to prepare as required by Rule 69(C).

The Chamber will now first consider the unredacted statements of Witness BY, amounting to about a thousand pages.  They were filed with the registry on 11th May 2004.  Apparently, the Defence had no representative present in Arusha to receive these confidential and urgent documents, and lead counsel for Bagosora received them on 31st May 2004.

In the Chamber's view, it is clear that the Prosecution fulfilled its disclosure obligation and did not violate the order of 15th March 2004.  Disclosure was made by filing the documents with the registry.  However, it's also true that lead counsel received the documents later than 45 days before the commencement of Witness BY's testimony.  Therefore, the purpose of the 15th March decision, namely, to extend the time limit in order to give more time for the Defence to prepare, was not achieved.

The Chamber now turns to the second -- or to the recent additional statement of Witness BY.  It is the result of about 60 days of interviews by Prosecution investigators, carried out in the period from 6 February to the second half of May 2004.  The Prosecution filed the document on 21st May 2004.  The Bagosora Defence received it on 31st May 2004 when lead counsel returned to Arusha. 

In the Chamber's view, this document is not directly covered by its decision of 15th March 2004.  As explained previously, the purpose of the two previous decisions was to delay disclosure of the identity of Witness BY for protection purposes.  When the recent witness statement was disclosed, the Prosecution had already disclosed the identity and unredacted parts of the previous statements.

On the other hand, it is clear that the new statement represents a considerable burden for the Defence.  The statement amounts to 179 pages, which has to be analysed and compared with the previous voluminous statements.  And as pointed out by the Nsengiyumva Defence, the problem is compounded by lack of translation into English.  The registry has indicated that the statement will be translated by Friday, 25th of June.  If so, this is just before the witness is scheduled to testify. 
Even if the Prosecution has respected its disclosure obligations, the Chamber finds, in view of the specific circumstances described above, that the Defence needs additional time to prepare.  It is noted that the Bagosora Defence previously has indicated, as a compromise, that the 15th of July would be a sufficient time.

The Chamber refers to Article 24(B) of the Statute, and having balanced the various interests and in view of all the information available, the Chamber makes the following order:  The examination-in-chief of Witness BY shall commence on Friday, 2nd July 2004.  Cross-examination shall commence on Monday, 5th July 2004. 

We thought it useful to do this orally now so that the parties know quickly, for scheduling purposes, how we look at the matter.

It's now 5:25, and we will then meet again tomorrow.  Court is adjourned. 

(Court adjourned at 1726H)
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